University of South Carolina Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

1-1-2013

Examining Long-Haul Chinese Outbound Tourists' Shopping Intentions

Pei Zhang University of South Carolina - Columbia

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd Part of the <u>Hospitality Administration and Management Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Zhang, P.(2013). *Examining Long-Haul Chinese Outbound Tourists' Shopping Intentions*. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/2424

 $This \ Open \ Access \ Dissertation \ is \ brought \ to \ you \ by \ Scholar \ Commons. \ It \ has \ been \ accepted \ for \ inclusion \ in \ Theses \ and \ Dissertations \ by \ an \ authorized \ administrator \ of \ Scholar \ Commons. \ For \ more \ information, \ please \ contact \ dillarda@mailbox.sc.edu.$



EXAMINING LONG-HAUL CHINESE OUTBOUND TOURISTS' SHOPPING INTENTIONS

by

Pei (Allison) Zhang

Bachelor of Science Wuhan University of Science and Technology, 2009

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Master Of

International Hospitality and Tourism Management

College of Hospitality, Retail, and Sport Management

University of South Carolina

2013

Accepted by:

Fang Meng, Director of Thesis

Simon Hudson, Committee Member

Yingjiao Xu, Committee Member

Jung-Hwan Kim, Committee Member

Lacy Ford, Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Studies



© Copyright by Pei Zhang, 2013 All Rights Reserved



ABSTRACT

This study examines long-haul Chinese outbound tourists' shopping intentions using the planned behavior approach. Attitude of product and store attributes, subjective norms of co-workers are found to significantly predict shopping intentions of respondents during their overseas trips. Further, behavioral beliefs and the corresponding outcome evaluation of product and store attributes lead to the formation of attitude. Normative beliefs of co-workers, motivation to comply with co-workers, and the interaction between them significantly influence respondents' subjective norms on overseas tourism shopping. Control beliefs, power of control beliefs, and the interaction between them predict respondents' perceived behavioral control on overseas tourism shopping. Both academic and practical implications are made based on the results.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Statement of Problem	1
1.2 Background	7
1.3 Research Objectives	10
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Tourism Shopping	14
2.2 Theoretical Framework: Theory of Planned Behavior	22
Chapter 3: Methodolgy	
3.1 Target Population	30
3.2 Sampling	30
3.3 Survey Instrument	31
3.4 Data Collection	44
3.5 Method of Analysis	45
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	
4.1 Demographic Characteristics of the Respondents	46
4.2 Travel and Shopping Related Characteristics of the Respondents	47
4.3 Factor Analysis	48
4.4 ANOVA: Testing interaction effects	56
4.5 Multiple Regressions	58

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION



5.1 Summary of the Analysis	64
5.2 Conclusion	71
5.3 Implications	73
5.4 Limitation and Recommendation	78
Reference	



LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Behavioral Beliefs Items
Table 3.2 Outcome Evaluation Items 37
Table 3.3 Attitude Items
Table 3.4 Normative Beliefs Items
Table 3.5 Motivation to Comply Items 39
Table 3.6 Subjective Norms Items
Table 3.7 Control Beliefs Items 41
Table 3.8 Power Items41
Table 3.9 Perceived Behavioral Control Items 42
Table 3.10 Intentions Items
Table 4.1 Demographic Characteristics of the Respondents 46
Table 4.2 Travel & Shopping Related Characteristics of the Respondents
Table 4.3 Behavioral beliefs about shopping during overseas trip 50
Table 4.4 Subjective Norms on shopping during overseas trips 52
Table 4.5 Control Beliefs about shopping during overseas trips
Table 4.6 Power of Control Beliefs about shopping during overseas trips
Table 4.7 Perceived Behavioral Control about shopping during overseas trips
Table 4.8 Intentions about shopping during overseas trips 56
Table 4.9 Interaction Effects of BB and OE, and CB and Power



Table 4.10 Predicting attitude	59
Table 4.11 Predicting subjective norms	61
Table 4.12 Predicting perceived behavioral control	62
Table 4.13 Predicting intentions	63



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Theory of Planned Behavior	Figure 2.1 Theory	y of Planned Behavior	
---------------------------------------	-------------------	-----------------------	--



CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

Shopping is one of the most pervasive tourist activities in destinations (Choi et al., 1999; Snepenger et al., 2003; Yuksel, 2007). The importance of shopping experience as a part of tourists' overall experience has begun to draw increasing attention from researchers (Getz, 1993; Yuksel, 2007; Turner & Reisinger 2001; Kemperman et al., 2009; Hsieh and Chang 2006; Timothy & Butler, 1995; Yuksel & Yuksel, 2007; Heung & Cheng, 2000; Wong & Law, 2003; Yuksel, 2004; Reisinger & Turner, 2002; Jansen-Verbeke, 1991). It has been noted that shopping activity is particularly important to international tourists who are likely to spend larger amount of money on souvenirs and goods that may not be readily available or affordable in their home country (Dimanche, 2003; Jansen-Verbeke, 1991; Timothy & Butler, 1995). Extant studies report that shopping can be a powerful motivating force in the decision to undertake a cross-border trip (Timothy and Butler 1995); tourists of different nationalities may have diversified shopping preferences (Lehto et al., 2004; Reisinger & Turner, 2002) and hold varied satisfaction levels (Wong & Law, 2003; Yuksel, 2004).

Shopping behavior of Asian tourists, who are the major source of global shopping, has raised extensive interests among researchers (Lehto et al., 2004; Ko, 2000; Hobson & Christensen, 2001; Wong & Law, 2003; Keown, 1989; Reisinger & Turner,



2002; Jansen-Verbeke & Theobald, 1995; Pawitra & Tan, 2003; Mak et al., 1999). For example, Reisinger and Turner (2002) find the different shopping satisfactions of Japanese tourists visiting Hawaii and the Gold Coast are determined by the perceived importance of product attributes. Other research also sheds light on Japanese tourists' shopping behavior including their propensity to buy in overseas destinations (Keown, 1989), the effect of culture value on their shopping behavior (Hobson & Christensen, 2001), and the relationship of shopping activities and other tourist consumptions among Japanese tourists (Jansen-Verbeke, 1995). Pizam and Jeong (1996) compare behavioral characteristics among Japanese, American and Korean group tourists and argue that nationality makes a difference on group tourists' behavior, of which shopping behavior is one of the 18 different characteristics identified among those three groups. Ko (2000) examine the issues and underlying reasons of the escorted shopping tour of Korean tourists in Australia, and further argued its influence on tourists' overall satisfaction.

Shopping as a tourist activity is particularly favored by the Chinese tourists, and a large portion of their travel expenditure is spent on shopping (Prideaux, 1996; Zhang & Qu, 1996; Zhou et al., 1998; Hanqin & Lam, 1999; Cai et al., 2001; Lehto et al., 2004; Heung & Cheng, 2000). Chinese shoppers are highly visible in places such as Hong Kong, Paris, London, and New York (VisitBritain, 2011). The Australia Bureau of Tourism Research (2003) found that 81% of the Chinese outbound tourists engaged in shopping when traveling in Australia, making it the most popular activity (Chow & Murphy, 2008). The MasterIndex of Travel China (2nd half of 2008) revealed that the main activities of Chinese independent travelers to all destinations in the world were general sightseeing (84%) and shopping (82%) (ETC, 2011). Meanwhile, the recent



development of China's long-haul outbound tourism made Chinese tourists a major market drawing worldwide attention (Pan et al., 2007; Ryan & Gu, 2008). As of late 2011, there were 140 destinations around the world that signed the bilateral tourism agreement with China, called Approved Destination Status (ADS) (CNTA, 2012). For example, China currently has a middle class of more than 300 million people that are able to travel to the United States, and it is the fastest growing outbound travel market in the world (US Travel Association, 2009). According to National Tourism Administration of the People's Republic of China (CNTA), in 2010, Chinese outbound tourist volume reached 57.4 million with a 20.4% annual increase (CNTA, 2011). Furthermore, the Chinese outbound tourism market ousted the UK from third place among the world's top tourism spenders in 2010, with a 26% increase in expenditure on travel and tourism abroad (in US dollar term), to US\$54.9 billion (ETC, 2011). The most recent data from Tourism Australia Research, showed that in 2011, Chinese tourist arrivals to Australia increased by 19.4%, which made China still among the fastest-growing markets since 2000 (Tourism Australia Research, 2012). European Travel Commission reported that in 2010, Chinese tourist arrivals to Europe totaled 3.9 million, representing 34.8% of the Chinese long haul outbound market. In the same year, tourist arrivals from China to the United States reached 802,000, an annual growth rate of 52.8% (OTTI, 2011); the total spending of Chinese tourists amounted at \$5 billion, averaging \$6,243 per person per trip, which represented the highest spending international market and supported 35, 500 domestic jobs in the U.S. (U.S. Travel Association, 2011).

Previous research on Chinese outbound tourists proved China as an important market for the global tourism industry (e.g. Kim et al., 2005; Sparks & Pan, 2009; Zhang



www.manaraa.com

& Heung, 2002; Zhou et al., 1998; Zhang & Chow, 2004; Li et al., 2011; Wong & Kwong, 2004; Qu & Lam, 1997; Pan, 2003; Zhang et al., 2009; Harrill et al., 2010; Qu & Li, 1997; Cai et al., 2001; Li & Stepchenkova, 2012; Zhang et al., 2009; Stepchenkova & Li, 2012; Li et al., 2011; Chow & Murphy, 2011; Li et al., 2012). Due to its unique social and Culture background (Doctoroff, 2005), Chinese tourists' behavior and preferences appear different from other international travelers (Chow & Murphy, 2008, 2011). For example, Chinese tourists prefer travelling in groups rather than alone, as collectivism are highly valued in Chinese culture (Hofstede, 1991; Mok & DeFranco, 1999). Additonally, Chinese usually save money for months before going on trips abroad (Lau, 2004) and bring gifts to family, friends and co-workers as a social norm (Lehto et al., 2004; Xu & McGehee, 2012). In terms of overseas destination attributes, beautiful scenery (Kim et al., 2005; Sparks & Pan, 2009), quality infrastructure, autonomy, inspirational motives and social self-enhancement (Sparks & Pan, 2009) are found to be considered important to Chinese tourists. Television program and internet are an important source of information used by Chinese people to learn about target destination (Sparks & Pan, 2009; Zhang & Heung, 2002; Cai et al., 2001). Furthermore, Sparks and Pan (2009) note that seeking shopping opportunity, looking for inspiration and the need of interaction with locals are strongly influenced by the use of television program. Some research has attempted to investigate preferences in terms of tourist activities among Chinese people. Du and Zhang (2003) examines Chinese outbound group tourists concerning their most preferred activities in future overseas travel. The result shows that the majority preferred sightseeing (47.1%), participatory entertainment (18.3%), adventure activity (13.1%) and others wanted to experience local lifestyle (17.6%). Zhou, King, & Turner (1998) suggest



"places which are highly popular" are the most important. For the relatively new market such as the U.S., Cai, Lehto and O'Leary (2001) find their top five activities were shopping, dining, city sightseeing, visiting historical places, amusement and theme parks. Similarly, Li et al. (2011) examine Chinese tourists' expectations of outbound travel product in various aspects and shopping is found to be one of the major travel motivations and an important activity of interest for Chinese outbound tourists.

Although Shopping is found to be one of the most favorable tourist activities by outbound Chinese tourists (Cai et al., 2001; Li et al., 2011), very limited studies investigated outbound Chinese tourists' shopping behavior. Hong Kong is one of the few first outbound destinations for Mainland Chinese tourists (Qu & Lam, 1997; Zhang & Heung, 2001) and it has been labeled as a popular shopping destination particularly for tourists from Asian countries. A few studies shed light on Mainland Chinese tourists' shopping experience in Hong Kong. For example, Mainland Chinese tourists are found to have high importance expectation on quality of goods, service quality, variety of goods and price of goods when shopping in Hong Kong (Wong & Law, 2002). Qu and Li (1997) indicate that Mainland Chinese tourists in Hong Kong are satisfied with the shopping facility, variety of choices, convenience to the shop and staff service but are not satisfied with both the product quality and price offered. Most significant complaints among Mainland Chinese visitors to Hong Kong are found to be the mandatory shopping trips provided by tour guides (Zhang & Chow, 2004; Zhang et al., 2009). Furthermore, Choi et al. (2008) examine a wide range of aspects of shopping including locations, brand preference, tendency to purchase new brand, decision-making style, product attributes,



shopping environment and sales service of individual visitors from Chinese Mainland to Hong Kong.

Though in scarce, researchers began to show interest in the long-haul Chinese outbound tourists' shopping behavior. It is suggested that long-haul Chinese tourists prefer purchasing electronics and famous brand-name items for their extended network of friends, family and even acquaintances when traveling overseas (Guo et al., 2007). Li et al. (2011) report that long-haul Chinese outbound tourists want to acquire shopping information from the tour operators, prefer to visit shopping area with local flavor and do not want forced shopping. Chow and Murphy (2011) examine the predictive power of psychographic and demographic variables on Chinese outbound tourists to Australia and found that 'shopping and dining' is proved to be significant related to a combination of psychographic and demographic contributors. Most recently, Xu and McGehee (2012) conduct in-depth interviews with Chinese tourists who had participated group tours of East Coast cities during the spring of 2008. The qualitative research reveals Chinese tourists' product choices, shopping motivation, shopping experience and problems during the shopping trip on a general dimension.

In sum, Chinese outbound tourists shopping behavior has attracted increasing attention but due to the scarce extant research, much is unknown about this important, fast-growing market. To date, the majority of studies on Mainland Chinese tourists' shopping experience are presented in the Hong Kong setting, a non-overseas, non-longhaul destination. The relevant literature in the long-haul, overseas setting is still in infancy stage (Li et al., 2011) and minimal research was done on long-haul Chinese outbound tourists' shopping behavior. The scarce literature calls for more exploration on



www.manaraa.com

this significant subject matter. Meanwhile, existing studies have highlighted the need on Chinese outbound tourist shopping (Heung & Cheng, 2000; Wong & Law, 2002; Lehto et al., 2004; Xu & McGehee, 2012). Therefore, this study aims to fill the gap of providing empirical findings on long-haul Chinese outbound tourist shopping intentions. In other words, this study attempts to empirically investigate long-haul Chinese outbound tourists' shopping intention with a sample of Chinese tourists with travel experience to long-haul overseas destination in the past. Theory of Planned Behavior (Ajzen, 1988; 1991) is applied in this research setting as the theoretical foundation to examine the factors which influence tourists' shopping behavior and their predicting relationship with the future shopping intention.

1.2 BACKGROUND

1.2.1 Chinese outbound market: tourist arrivals

Official statistics showed the Chinese outbound tourist population is growing in recent years. In the first three quarters of 2011, there were over 50 million outbound travelers in China with a 20% year-to-date increase rate (COTRI, 2011).

Among the destinations in the world, Australia has been a popular long-haul tourism destination for Chinese tourists for the past 11 years. Despite a 7.3% decline in 2003 due to the outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS), China visitation to Australia increased steadily at an average annual rate of 14.2% since 2000 (Australia Government Department of Resource, Energy and Tourism, 2011). European Union areas currently received approximately 3.8 million Chinese annually, with about 200,000 more than Japanese count. The number is considered to be higher if measured in terms of cumulative arrivals in different European destinations (ETC, 2011). In 2011,



European Travel Commission reported that Chinese tourist arrivals to Europe totaled 3.9 million, representing 34.8% of the Chinese long haul outbound market (ETC, 2011). The United Kingdom also sees an upward trend of Chinese visitation. Till 2011, the total volume of Chinese tourists to UK amounted at 149,000 with a 5-year period increase rate of 40% (VisitBritain, 2012). Since the grant of ADS (Approved Destination Status) in May 2008 (CNTA, 2010), The United States has stepped into the game in competing for Chinese outbound tourists on a much larger scale (Xu and McGehee, 2012). The Chinese tourist arrivals to U.S. have been increasing for the recent years. The U.S. Travel Association reported that approximately 13.2% of all Chinese residents traveling beyond Asia visited the U.S. in 2010, and this share is forecasted to increase to 25% by 2015 (U.S. Travel Association). The most recent figure by OTTI (2011) shows that though slow down a bit, China still top the increase rate in tourist arrivals to U.S. in 2011 (35.9%). According to the U.S. Commerce Department, China is forecasted to account for 2.16 million of the total 14 million visitor growth through 2016 (OTTI, 2012).

1.2.2 Chinese outbound market: Tourist spending

The growing disposable income amongst Chinese tourists has boosted their oversea spending in recent years. It has been recognized that the global economic downturn did not affect China as much as one would have expected (ETC 2011). Throughout the recession, China was one of the few leading outbound travel markets around the world that continued to show positive growth in economic value (VisitBritan, 2012). The most updated data from Chinese Tourism Academy indicated for the first half of 2011, outbound tourism expense amounted at 33.1 billion USD and trade deficit of tourism services reached at 10.7 billion USD, which equates to 54.1% of the total trade



deficit of service industries (COTRI, 2011). The tourism department of Australia government forecasted that in the longer term to 2020, the Total Inbound Economic Value (TIEV) is expected to double to over \$6.0 billion, which will make China Australia's most valuable inbound market (Australia Government Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism, 2011). The Office of Travel and Tourism Industries reported in 2010 that U.S. travel and tourism exports (spending) to China have increased by 30% in seven of the last eight years (OTTI). In 2011, visitors from China spent \$7.7 billion in the United States, positioning China ahead of Germany in ranking of top spending markets for the first time. What worth mention is that the spending growth rate of Chinese outbound tourists usually outpaces their arrival growth rate (i.e. in 2011 the spending growth rate in U.S is 47% while the arrival growth rate is 36%), which indicates that it may be more important for overseas destinations to focus on the Chinese inbound market in terms of dollar spending.

1.2.3 Chinese outbound market: Tourist shopping

Shopping is the most popular destination activities to Chinese tourists when taking outbound travels (Cai, et al., 2001; Heung & Cheng, 2000; Wong and Law, 2003; Lin and Lin, 2006). Chinese consumers are becoming increasingly discerning with more exposure to foreign goods and services. The stronger currency also helped to trigger much expanded spending overseas.

In 2005, a survey of Chinese tourists released by the CNTA showed that travelers to various EU member states spent about 3,000 Euro per trip, of which 34% went on shopping (ETC, 2011). Recent figures proved the shopping trend is growing. Among Chinese tourists visiting Britain, there are more than 80% VFR (Visiting Friends and



Relatives) visitors and more than 60% Holiday takers shopped during their trips (VisitBritain, 2012). In U.S. shopping with an average participation percentage at 90%, has been holding the number-one place (followed by 'Dining in Restaurants' and 'Sightseeing in Cities') on the top 10 activity list of Chinese tourists for 7 consecutive years since 2005 (OTTI).

According to the MasterIndex Survey, preferred shopping items for Chinese tourists are local souvenirs, antiques and arts and crafts (71%), apparel and personal effects (67%), electronic and audio-visual products (36%), food items (35%) and luxury and branded goods (32%) (ETC, 2011). In recent years, Brand-conscious Chinese tourists are becoming well known for their "shopping power" and their enthusiasm for expensive high-end products (VisitBritain, 2012). A key attribute of the Chinese outbound market is a tendency to make big-bill purchases. with figures from Global Blue indicating that during the first seven months of 2012, China accounted for one fifths of sales in the world where departing visitors reclaimed tax, placing China second to Middle East (VisitBritain, 2012). Recent comments from Chinese tourists also suggest that branded goods bought in Europe, though often are found to be 'made in China', are valued both for being cheaper than bought in China and more likely to be genuine (ETC, 2011).

1.3 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

The overall purpose of this study is to determine what factors influence long-haul outbound Chinese tourists' intentions to shop during their overseas trips. After a careful examination of the current body of literature, six possible constructs from the Theory of Planned Behavior (Ajzen, 1988; 1991) have been identified that are believed to influence tourists' intention to shop. In other words, this study uses the Theory of Planned Behavior



(TPB) (Ajzen, 1988; 1991) to examine the effects of factors on tourists' shopping intention during long-haul outbound trips. Specifically the constructs include (1) behavioral beliefs and attitude toward shopping overseas, (2) normative beliefs and subjective norms about how pressured the tourist feels from reference groups in terms of shopping during overseas trips, as well as (3) control beliefs and perceived behavioral control of some possible constraints or barriers prevent the tourist from shopping during overseas trips. Through the use of a survey instrument, this study will identify which, if any, of these constructs predict long-haul outbound Chinese tourists' intentions to shop overseas. It will also determine the strengths of the relationships between the independent and dependent variables.

The study context covers the research areas of tourism, retail and Chinese consumer behavior. Past research has shown that the Theory of Planned Behavior is able to be transferred and reliably applied to tourism (Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Sparks, 2007; Sparks & pan, 2009; Quintal et al., 2010), retailing (Cannière et al., 2009) and the Chinese setting (Bagozzi et al., 2001; Chan & Lau, 2001; Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Simth et al., 2009; Sparks & Pan, 2009). Therefore, this study attempts to further test the applicability of the TPB in the tourism shopping context with a sample of long-haul outbound Chinese tourists. Even though many studies shed light on tourism shopping (e.g. Getz, 1993; Yukesel, 2007; Turner & Reisinger, 2001; Kemperman et al., 2009) and several focused on Chinese tourist shopping preferences and satisfactions (Heung & Cheng, 2000; Lehto et al., 2004; Lin & Lin, 2006), there's limited amount of literature on Chinese outbound tourists shopping intentions, especially in the context of long-haul overseas travel such as the United States. On the other hand, due to the recent



development of Chinese outbound tourism and Chinese tourists' increasing spending power overseas, destinations around the world realized it is important to attract Chinese people to spend and investigating their spending pattern (Xu & McGehee, 2012). Among the tourist activities of Chinese outbound travelers, Shopping is an important activity of interest and even one of the major travel motivations (Xu & McGehee, 2012; Li et al., 2010, 2011; Cai et al., 2001; OTTI; ETC, 2011; VisitBritain, 2012). Thus, there is a need to address Chinese outbound tourists' shopping intentions and shopping behavior, especially in the context of the long-haul market. Under the theoretical framework of the TPB, this study attempts to explore the behavioral intentions to shop of long-haul outbound Chinese outbound tourists from the shopping data of overseas long-haul Chinese tourists. Specially, the research objectives of this study are to:

- Explore the influence of tourists' *behavioral beliefs* (BB) and *outcome evaluation* (OE) of overseas shopping on *attitude* toward shopping during a long-haul outbound trip.
- Explore the influence of tourists' *normative beliefs* (NBs) and *motivation to* comply (MC) of overseas shopping on *subjective norm* toward shopping during a long-haul outbound trip.
- 3. Explore the influence of tourists' *control beliefs* (CBs) and *power of control beliefs* (P) of overseas shopping on *perceived behavioral control* toward shopping during a long-haul outbound trip.
- 4. Examine the respective predictive ability of *attitude*, *subjective norm*, and *perceived behavioral control* on *behavioral intention* to shop during a long-haul outbound trip.



Therefore, in accordance with the research objectives, the four specific research questions of this study are as follows:

- 1. How do *behavioral beliefs*, *outcome evaluation* and the interaction between them influence Chinese tourist's *attitude* towards shopping during overseas trips?
- 2. How do *normative beliefs*, *motivation to comply* and the interaction between them influence Chinese tourist's *subjective norms* toward shopping during overseas trips?
- 3. How do *control beliefs, power* of control beliefs and the interaction between them influence Chinese tourist's *perceived behavioral control* on shopping during overseas trips?
- 4. How do *attitude*, *subjective norms* and *perceived behavioral control* influence Chinese tourists' *shopping intentions* during their long-haul outbound trips?



CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 TOURISM SHOPPING

Many researchers argue that while shopping is less mentioned as primary motive for travel, it is a common and one of the main tourist activities (Kent et al., 1983; Keown et al., 1984; Witter, 1985; Keown, 1989; Dickman, 1989; Jansen-Verbeke, 1991; Jansen-Verbeke, 1994; Timothy & Butler, 1995; Ko, 2000; Wang, 2012). For some tourists, shopping may be the single most important purpose of travel (Cohen, 1995; Reisinger & Waryzack, 1996; Huang & Hsu, 2005), or be considered at least an indispensable part of being a tourist (Heung & Qu, 1998; Yuksel, 2004). A number of studies emphasize the importance and popularity of shopping in tourism setting. The development of shopping sectors is instrumental in tourism promotion (Jansen-Verbeke, 1991). Di Matteo and Di Matteo (1996) indicate that due to the more leisure oriented setting for shopping in the destination, it has become a major leisure activity for many tourists. Timothy and Butler (1995) argue that the desire and necessity for shopping is based on the elements of relaxation, fleeing from mundane routine, and challenge that are associated with shopping, which in turn motivate tourist to travel. Furthermore, shopping opportunities can often function as attractions (Ryan, 1991). Shops such as Harrods in London, Nike Town in Chicago or Taipei 101 Building Shopping Mall are major tourist attractions (Reisinger & Turner, 2002; Wang, 2012).



2.1.1 Tourist shopping motives

Shopping in tourism setting can be resulted from various motives including diversion, self-gratification, learning about local traditions and new trends, and sensory stimulation (Tauber, 1972). Tourist shopping motivations, as stated by Jansen-Verbeke (1994), can be divided into four categories: (1) strengthening social ties, (2) taking advantage of the unique goods provided or bargaining prices offered, (3) purchasing goods and products that represent the identity of the destination, and (4) being motivated by the favorable exchange rate. In keeping with the four categories, motivations of Chinese tourists shopping in the United States are found to be: a) purchase gifts for friends and relatives; b) take advantage of unique products (special souvenirs or high quality products) and lower price; and c) make good use of travel time (Xu & McGehee, 2012). Mok and Iverson (2000) attribute Taiwanese tourists' keenness of overseas shopping to their culture value of maintaining social relationship through the giving of gifts. Souvenir shopping by Japanese tourists is found rampant due to the important tradition of exchanging gifts (Jansen-Verbeke, 1994). Timothy and Butler (1995) report that taking advantage of price difference, getting away from a routine life and sampling a different culture comprised tourist motivation for taking cross-border shopping trips.

On the other hand, Wang (2004) classified tourist shopping motives into leisure and functional purposes. Furthermore, the added symbolic meanings account for the other motivations (Lehto et al., 2004). Trip remembrances are psychologically important to many tourists (Anderson & Littrell, 1995). The goods tourists purchased often carry symbolic meanings and special memories that they wish to cherish and remember (Belk, 1988; Gordon, 1986; Littrell et al., 1993; Oh et al., 2004; Swanson, 2004). For example,



the souvenir a tourist bought in the destination is a tangible symbol and reminder of an experience that differs from daily routine and that otherwise would remain intangible, such as memories of people, places and event (Gordon, 1986; Littrell, 1990; Simith, 1979).

Leisure shopping is one of the most popular activities in global tourism (Law & Au, 2000). Some researchers claim that shopping itself is a tourism activity that satisfies people's needs for leisure (Kent et al., 1983; Wang, 2004). Heung and Cheng (2000) suggest consumers may consider shopping for unneeded products as a leisure activity. Moscardo (2004) argues that tourists shopping motives can be recognized as instrumental and expressive ones. The expressive motives represent the need to escape, to relax, and to have a change of the life pace while the instrumental motives include shopping for necessities associated with travel and shopping as an activity that meets social obligation. Similarly, Geuens et al. (2004) suggest that tourist shopping motivations can be diversified into functional motivation, social motivation and experiential motivation. Functional motives can be referred to rational shopping behavior motivated by factors such as lower prices, more varieties and better quality (Chang et al., 2006). Shopping opportunities are a major attraction drawing tourists to many less developed countries where the prices of goods are generally low (Keown, 1989). Moreover, tourists tend to shop goods that may not be readily available or affordable in their home country (Dimanche, 2003). Existing research also report that the leisure and functional nature of tourism shopping can be explained by hedonic and utilitarian shopping values which have been applied in tourism (Gursoy et al., 2006; Yuksel, 2007; Bruwer & Alant, 2009;



Kemperman et al., 2009) and retail settings (Babain et al., 1994; Childers et al., 2002; Jones et al., 2006; Overby & Lee, 2006).

2.1.2 Tourist shopping values

Researchers acknowledge that shopping experiences can indeed produce both utilitarian and hedonic value (e.g. Belk, 1987; Fischer & Arnold, 1990; Sherry, 1990a). As suggested by Batra and Ahtola (1990), "consumers purchase goods and services and perform consumption behavior for two basic reasons: (a) consummatory affective (hedonic) gratification (from sensory attributes), and (b) instrumental, utilitarian reasons." Utilitatiran consumer behavior has been described as task-related and rational (Batra & Ahtola, 1991; Engel et al., 1993; Sherry, 1990b). Utilitarian shopping value, reflecting shopping with a work mentality (Hirschman & Holbrook, 1982), relates to whether the purchase goal of the shopping trip is accomplished (Babin et al., 1994; Yuksel, 2007), and is often accompanied with deliberant and efficient purchase (Babin et al., 1994).

Contrarily, hedonic shopping value represents a shopping trip's potential entertainment and emotional worth (Bellenger et al., 1976). Rather than stemming from task fulfillment, hedonic value results from fun and playfulness (Holbrook & Hirschman, 1982) and is more subjective and personal than the utilitarian value. Unlike utilitarian consumption which need stimulating the shopping trip was accomplished (Babin et al., 1994), shopping itself, with or without purchasing, can provide hedonic value in many ways (Marking et al., 1976). Researchers indicate that fantasy fulfillment, perceived freedom, increased arousal, heightened involvement and escapism all may generate a hedonic shopping experience (Bloch & Richins, 1983b; Hirschman, 1983). Perceived



enjoyment by recreational shoppers through shopping activities is a resource of hedonic value that allowing a consumer to enjoy a product's benefits without purchasing it (Bloch et al., 1986).

Previous studies suggest that hospitality and tourism products are likely to be high in both hedonic and utilitarian values (Batra & Ahtola, 1990; Voss et al., 2003). Tourist shoppers experience both utilitarian and hedonic shopping values. Tourist shoppers seek particular products and souvenirs based on functional attributes such as brand names and logos, product and package size, price, and product quality (e.g. Turner & Reisinger, 2002; Xu & McGehee, 2012). The range of goods purchased by tourists is large and may not just consist of souvenirs and necessary personal items. It includes goods such as clothes, jewelry, books, art and craft, duty-free products and electronic goods (Turner & Reisinger, 2001). For example, Xu and McGehee (2012) finds that Chinese tourists shop in the States in order to take advantage of high product quality, U.S. branded goods and lower price compared to the same products in China. On the other hand, tourists' shopping is a hedonic activity which is often closely associated with tourist' experiences of the "consumption of place" (Jansen-Verbeke 1990, 1998; Timothy & Butler, 1995). Tourists may view shopping experiences as entertainment or recreation even without purchasing a product (Jones, 1999). They often look for excitement and pleasure as well as seek opportunities to interact with local people when shopping (Littrell et al., 1994; Jones, 1999). A tourist's quest for pleasurable shopping experience may be more significant than acquisition of products (Yuksel, 2007). Furthermore, tourists who believe that the shopping district can provide them with fun, pleasurable and enjoyable shopping experience are likely to return in the future (Yuksel, 2007).



2.1.3 Tourist shopping attributes

Many tourists want to secure the highest *quality* item possible when purchasing goods while they are away from home (LeHew & Wesley, 2007). Studies find that tourists search for high-quality, well-designed products when shopping in the destination (Costello & Fairhurst, 2002; Littrell et al., 1994; Paige & Littrell, 2003; Rosenbaum & Spears, 2006; Tosn et al., 2007; Reisinger & Turner, 2002; Xu & McGehee, 2012). High quality of workmanship are found to be an important aspect that travelers seek from the crafts they purchase (Hu & Yu, 2006). Chinese tourists believe that the quality of products in the U.S. is guaranteed and there should be no fake brands due to sound legal systems (Xu & McGehee, 2012), This belief fosters one major motivation that drives them to shop in the U.S. Moreover, tourists consider purchasing an item by a well-known manufacturer is very important (Littrell et al., 1994), and thus looking for well-known brand names and logos when shopping (Gee, 1987).

Price is another important attribute for tourists when shopping in the destination. Research shows that the most important variable in stimulating tourist shopping is price differentials between home and destination (Timothy & Butler, 1995; Heung & Cheng, 2000; Hobson, 2000). Low price, though not a salient factor, is highly weighted in tourists' judgments about a retail store (Keown et al., 1984). Hong Kong and Singapore are well-known shopping destinations, particularly for duty-free goods, largely due to their competitive price on both imported and locally made products (Hobson & Christensen, 2001). For Japanese tourists, price is the most obvious explanation for the type of product lines purchased, perceived best buys, and desires to buy certain items



(Keown, 1989). Chinese tourists are also motivated by lower prices of products when shopping in the U.S., especially of well-known brand products (Xu & McGehee, 2012).

Uniqueness of products as symbolic motives enhances the tourism experience by giving the tourists a special memory about their trip (Turner & Reisinger, 2001). For example, travel souvenirs are important to tourists as reminders of special travel experiences (Littrell et al., 1994). Memorable shopping experiences and purchases of special goods form an integral part of the trip (Anderson & Littrell, 1995). Getting access to unique U.S. brands is one of the motivations that drive Chinese tourists to shop in the U.S. (Xu & McGehee, 2012) because they believe bringing U.S.-branded products home carry a symbolic memory of the trip. Urry (1990) argues that part of the social experience involved in many tourist context is to be able to consume commodities in the company of others. Satisfaction is derived not from the individual act of consumption but from the fact that all sorts of other people are also consumers of the service (Urry 1990). Several studies reveal that tourists take group tours due to the motive of seeking social interaction with travel companions as well as people in the destination (Yarnal & Kerstetter, 2005; Whipple & Thach, 1988; Wong & Lau, 2001; Wang et al., 2000). Particularly, researchers find that Chinese tourists are fond of taking group tours due to the benefit of personnel interaction involved (Wong & Lau, 2001; Zhang & Chow, 2004; Wang et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2000).

Personnel factors also influence tourists' overall shopping experience. Anderson and Littrell (1995) note that tourists' interaction with shopkeeper and crafts producers are woven into their stories of memorable experiences and authentic souvenir purchases during trips. Lam and Hsu (2004) indicates tourists' buying decisions are influenced by



their travel companion, especially tour guides. One particular aspect of the personnel factors that influencing tourists' buying behavior is the staff service quality (Keown et al., 1984; Heung & Cheng, 2000; Bitner et al., 1990; Arnold at al., 2005; Zeithaml et al., 1988; Lin & Lin, 2006; Wong & Law, 2002). The interaction between the shop assistant and shoppers, referred to as the service encounter, is a critical part of the product delivery (Reisinger & Waryszak, 1994). Staff's friendliness, caring, attentiveness, expertise, competence, respectfulness and knowledge of a product are among the vital determinants of sales effectiveness and of service quality (Reisinger & Waryszak, 1994). Service quality is identified to be the most influential factor of tourists' overall shopping satisfaction in Hong Kong (Heung & Cheng, 2000).

2.1.4 Chinese tourists' shopping characteristics

Though extensive research had shed light on Chinese tourists outbound travel behaviors (Zhang & Lam, 1999; Mok & Iverson, 2000; Sparks & Pan, 2009; Lee at al., 2011; Li at al., 2011; Xu & McGehee, 2012), limited amount of them specifically focus on Chinese tourists shopping behaviors. However, shopping as a tourist activity is particularly favored by Chinese tourists and a large portion of their travel expenditure is spent on shopping (Prideaux, 1996; Zhang & Qu, 1996; Zhou et al., 1998; Zhang & Lam, 1999; Cai et al., 2001; Lehto et al., 2004; Heung & Cheng, 2000). Lehto et al. (2004) identify that besides demographic factors, travel purpose and travel style influence Chinese tourist shopping preference and destination choice. Mainland Chinese travelers are found to have higher expectation on quality of goods compared to western travelers when shopping in Hong Kong (Wong & Law, 2002), which is confirmed by later studies that one of the motivations Chinese tourists shopping in the U.S. is to take advantage of



the higher quality of U.S. products (Xu & McGehee, 2012). Lin and Lin (2006) find that visitors from Mainland China are only satisfied with home delivering service when shopping in Taiwan but least satisfied with other eight attributes including commemoration of the product, uniqueness of the product and price. Barriers such as restricted shopping hours (Prideaux, 1996; Xu & McGehee, 2012), Language problems (Lam & Hsu, 2006; Xu & McGehee, 2012) and mandatory stops at certain shops (Zhang & Chow, 2004) are identified by several researchers from both exploratory studies and empirical tests.

2.2 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK: THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOR 2.2.1 Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB)

The Theory of Planned Behavior (Ajzen, 1988; 1991) is an extension of the Theory of Reasoned Action (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980; Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975). The TRA model has been applied in various fields like marketing, social psychology or even education (e.g. Pryor, 1990; Shimp & Kavas, 1984; Sperber et al., 1980). Two key variables – attitude and subjective norm have been introduced in the TRA constructs to encompass behavioral goals. However, the predictability is weakened when the TRA is applied to types of behavior not under volitional control (Sheppard et al., 1988). Compared to the TRA, the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) includes additional measures of control beliefs and behavioral control to cover the behaviors not under complete volitional control. The TPB postulates three key constructs that generate behavioral intention and in turn, drive actual behavior eventually. Specifically, intention is based on such variables as attitude toward the behavior, subjective norm and perceived behavioral control. Figure 1 depicts the theory in the form of a structural diagram.





Figure 2.1 Theory of Planned Behavior

Attitude. According to Ajzen and Fishbein (1980), *attitude* toward the behavior refers to an individual's overall positive or negative evaluation of performing a particular behavior, which derives from the function of Behavioral beliefs and the evaluation of perceived outcomes. TPB predicts that the more favorable an individual evaluates a particular behavior, the more likely he/she will intend to perform that behavior (Ajzen, 1987). For example, positive attitude toward taking a wine oriented vacation is likely to be a key influence on intentions to take such a vacation (Sparks, 2007). An attitude is a predisposition result from learning and experience, reflect in a consistent way toward an object, such as a product (Lam & Hsu, 2006). Moutinho (1987) suggests that in tourism context, attitudes are predispositions or feelings toward a vacation destination, a tourist activity, or service, based on multiple perceived product attributes.

Behavioral beliefs. Behavioral belief is considered to have two dimensions. An individual's Behavioral Belief in performing a particular behavior that will lead to a specific consequence; and the Evaluation of Outcome which refers to one's assessment of



that particular consequence (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1975; Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980). In other words, a combination of beliefs that the behavior will lead to certain outcomes; and the evaluation of these outcomes together generate attitude. Numerically, Attitude can be predicted by multiplying an individual's behavioral belief of each salient attribute associated with the behavior by the individual's evaluation of the corresponding outcomes of each salient attribute, and then the products are aggregated for the total set of beliefs (Ajzen, 2002; Ajzen, 2006).

Subjective norms. Subjective norm refers to an individual's perception of whether people who are important to him/her think that he/she should or should not perform a certain behavior in question (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980). Any person or group served as a reference group could exert a key influence on an individual's beliefs, attitudes and choices (Moutinho, 1987). In consequence, an individual may conform to his/her referent group(s). Such conformation is subjective norm. Subjective norms are assumed to assess the social pressures on individuals to perform or not to perform a particular behavior (Conner & Armitage, 1998). In tourism setting, a tourist might choose to perform a certain behavior not only depend on their significant others such as family members and close friends, tour guides or fellow tour group members can also become a source of social pressure (Lam & Hsu, 2004; Lam & Hsu, 2006).

Normative beliefs. An individual's behavior is influenced by his/her important others' standards of judgment. What those important others think he/she should do is defined as *normative beliefs* (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980). Such beliefs and the extent of motivation to which the individual wants to comply with altogether determine *subjective norms*. The more an individual perceives that significant others think he/she should



engage in the behavior, the greater an individual's level of motivation to comply with those others (Lwin & Williams, 2003). Accordingly, the strength of each *normative belief* is weighted by the corresponding motivation to comply, and the products are summed to produce the *subjective norms* (Ajzen, 1991; Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980).

Perceived behavioral control (PBC). Perceived behavioral control (PBC) is a non-volitional factor. It reflects an individual's perception of the ease or difficulty in performing a specific behavior (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980). The proposed relationship between perceived behavioral control and behavioral intention as well as actual behavior is based on two assumptions (Ajzen, 1990). First, an increase in perceived behavioral control will result in an increase in behavioral intention and the likelihood of performing the actual behavior. Second, perceived behavioral control will influence the actual behavior directly to the extent that perceived control reflects actual control (Armitage & Conner, 2001). Judgments of PBC are influenced by beliefs concerning whether one access to the necessary resources and opportunities to perform the behavior successfully, weighted by the perceived power of each factor to facilitate or inhibit behavior (Ajzen, 1988,1991).

Control beliefs. The perception of factors likely to facilitate or inhibit the performance of the behavior are referred to as control beliefs (Conner & Armitage, 1998). These factors include both internal control attributes such as information, personal deficiencies, skills, abilities or emotions, and external control factors such as opportunities, dependence on others, barriers (Conner & Armitage, 1998). Perceived behavioral control is a composition of control beliefs and perceived power. Perceived power of each control factor is considered to be individual assessment of the importance



of the resources and opportunities in achieving behavioral outcomes (Ajzen & Madden, 1986; Chang, 1998). In sum, the total products of each control belief multiply the corresponding perceived power generate perceived behavioral control (Ajzen, 1991, 2009; Ajzen and Fishbein, 1980).

Intention. Behavioral intention can be defined as a person's subjective probability of performing a particular behavior (Ajzen, 1991) or an individual's anticipated or planned future behavior (Swan, 1981). It reflects an individual's expectancies about a particular behavior in a given setting and can be operationalized as the likelihood to act (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975). Behavioral intention to act in a certain way is the immediate determinant of a behavior (Ajzen, 1985). In other words, intention can result in actual behavior when there is an opportunity. Therefore, if the intention is measured accurately, it will provide the best predictor for behavior (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975). Overall, the basic paradigms of the TPB are that an individual is likely to undertake a particular type of behavior if they believe that such behavior will lead to a valuable outcome; that their important referents will value and approve of the behavior; and that they have the necessary resources, abilities, and opportunities to carry out such behavior (Ajzen, 1985; Conner et al., 1999).

2.2.2 Applications of the TPB

Many studies have provided support for the use of the theory of planned behavior in prediction of various social behaviors (e.g. Armitage & Conner, 2001; Conner & Sparks, 1996; Sparks, 1994; Van den Putte, 1991). However, limited amount of research is conducted in a tourism context. Meng and Xu (2012) propose a conceptual model incorporating the TPB with consumer impulsive shopping behavior (e. g. Rook & Hoch,



1985; Rook, 1987; Rook & Gardner, 1993; Rook & Fisher, 1995) as well as hedonic and utilitarian value (e.g. Leve & Witz, 2009; Hobrook & Hirchman, 1982; Babin et al., 1994) to predict tourist shopping behavior.

Lam and Hsu (2004) test the fit of the TPB with potential travelers from Mainland China to Hong Kong as the sample. Results show that attitude, perceived behavioral control and past behavior are found to be related to the intention of choosing Hong Kong as a travel destination. Particularly, beliefs about experience and shopping and sightseeing in Hong Kong attribute to the forming of attitude and in turn, have an impact on Chinese tourists' travel intentions. Perceived behavioral control resulted from control beliefs including high expense, short vacation leaves, visa application procedures and safety issues, lower the intention of traveling to the destination among Chinese tourists. However, such travel intention is found to be not associated with subjective norm, which contradict with previous studies depicting that Chinese rated self-monitoring highly and strived to change their behaviors in accordance with the situation and people surrounding them (Yang, 1992).

Lam and Hsu (2006) attempt again to test the applicability of the TPB on behavioral intention of choosing a travel destination by using a sample of potential Taiwanese travelers to Hong Kong. The study reveal such variables as subjective norm, perceived behavioral control predicted the behavioral intention of Taiwanese tourists choosing Hong Kong as a travel destination. In the study, subjective norm has the greatest direct effect on behavioral intention of visiting Hong Kong. Travel agency, close friends and family are found to be Taiwanese tourists' important social referents. Controlbeliefs in safety, mandatory stop during the trip and communication problems


composed of perceived behavioral control to negatively influence travel intentions to Hong Kong.

Sparks (2007) finds that perceived control, normative influences, past attitude, wine/food involvement and three wine attitudinal dimensions predict the tourists' intentions to take a wine vacation. The extended model based on the TPB was tested in a wine tourism context and was shown to have utility in predicting wine-related vacations. Sparks and Pan (2009) investigate potential Chinese outbound tourists' values in terms of destination attributes, as well as attitudes toward international travel by using a survey developed based on the TPB. Five destination attributes are identified to be important. In terms of predicting intention to travel, social normative influences and perceived lavels of personal control constraints were most influential based on TPB.

Quintal et al. (2010) apply the TPB in examining the impacts of risk and uncertainty on travel decision-making by using the sample from South Korea, China and Japan tourists visiting Australia. Results showed perceived risk and uncertainty are distinct constructs that have different impacts on Ajzen's TPB (1985, 1991). The analysis also suggests both subjective norms and perceived behavioral control are significant predictors of intentions to visit Australia. Furthermore, important referents show an even greater influence than previous studies with the notion that subjective norms impact both attitudes and perceived behavioral control besides predicting intentions.

Previous researches in shopping context demonstrate the utility of the TPB to predict buying intention (Cannier et al., 2009; Cook et al., 2002; Kalafatis et al., 1999; Tarkianien & Sundqvist, 2005). Cannier et al. (2009) find that the TPB constructs are better predictors of consumer buying intention of apparel than the relationship quality



model. Consumer's intention to buy environmentally-friendly products (i.e. green hotel or organic food) are influenced by their attitude towards such products, their important others' perceptions and possible resources and opportunities (Han & Kim, 2009; Han et al., 2010; Kalafatis et al., 1999; Tarkianien & Sundqvist, 2005). Furthermore, extensive research on consumer adoption of online shopping also support the applicability of the TPB (Pavlou & Fygenson, 2006; Hsu et al., 2006; Hansen et al., 2004; George, 2004; Hansen, 2008) and the intentions of taking leisure activities are tested by using key TPB constructs (Rhodes & Dean, 2009; Hrubes et al., 2010).



CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

3.1 TARGET POPULATION

Due to the fact that long-haul outbound travel in China is still at its beginning stage, Mainland Chinese citizens who can afford and are willing to travel abroad and shopping overseas are still a tiny portion of the country's population (Li & Stepchenkova, 2012). Therefore, the target population of this study is defined as adult mainland Chinese citizens (eighteen years old and above) who have taken an outbound long-haul leisure trip outside Asia in the past three years. The sample thus consists of tourists who have overseas long-haul travel and shopping experience before.

3.2 SAMPLING

Participant sampling were conducted in Beijing, Shanghai, and Guangzhou, the three major gateway cities which are the primary outbound tourist-generating areas generally categorized as "Tier I" cities of China (CTC, 2007; WTO, 2003). These three cities were selected because the residents' discretionary income per capita is among the highest in China (National Bureau of Statistics of China, 2003). These individuals are expected to provide more pragmatic judgments and opinions in the survey (Lam & Hsu, 2004), as their likelihood of travel to the United States or other overseas countries is higher than that of citizens in less developed area.



Participants must be long-haul Chinese outbound tourists who have shopping experience during their overseas travel. The long-haul Chinese outbound tourists are defined as "non-agricultural, adult Mainland Chinese citizens (18 years old and above) who have taken a leisure trip of four or more nights, by plane, outside Asia in the past three years" (Li et al., 2010). To make the sampling more relevant to the overseas tourism shopping, the potential respondents must have previous overseas tourism shopping experience by spending over 6,000 Chinese Yuan (about \$1,000) on shopping activities undertaken by him/her-self.

The data collection of this study employed systematic intercept sampling in Beijing, Shanghai, and Guangzhou. The sample includes 300 respondents: (1) who have traveled to an overseas destination outside Asia for leisure purpose in the past three years; (2) who have spent four or more nights during the trip with at least one night at a paid accommodation; (3) who have spent over 6,000 Chinese Yuan (RMB), i.e., approximately \$1,500, on shopping during the trip; (4) who have undertaken the shopping activities by him/herself excluding those who only paid for the shopping bill for someone else.

3.3 SURVEY INSTRUMENT

The study design employed a survey approach to test an established theoretical model in the Chinese outbound tourist shopping context. Past research has shown that the measurement model of the TPB is able to transfer and be reliably applied to tourism (Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Sparks, 2007; Sparks & Pan, 2009; Quintal et al., 2010), retail (Cannière et al., 2009) and the Chinese context (Bagozzi et al., 2001; Chan & Lau, 2001; Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Simth et al., 2009). The questionnaire was initially developed in



English due to the fact that most extant literature is in English, with inputs from a team of academic experts in both tourism and retailing fields. The questionnaire was then professionally translated into Chinese and then back translated to English by a bilingual researcher majoring in tourism and hospitality. The original questionnaire and the backtranslated questionnaire were then compared and reviewed by two researchers. Finally, a round of pilot test was conducted before official launching of the survey.

This survey includes 7 main sections: screening questions, general information questions, behavioral beliefs and attitude, normative beliefs and subjective norms, control beliefs and perceived behavioral control, shopping intentions, and lastly, demographics. All likert-type scaled items were adapted to interval scales using a five-point likert scale. Though most of the studies applying the Theory of Planned Behavior used seven point response categories (e.g. 1=strongly agree, 7=strongly disagree) to measure the construct scale items (e. g. Ajzen, 2002, 2006; Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Sparks, 2007; Sparks & Pan, 2009), this study adopted five point scale instead of seven to make the questionnaire more reader friendly, but still generate reliable results for further data analysis. Previous studies about optimal number of scale categories indicated that seven may be the modal number of response alternatives (Symonds, 1924; Morrison, 1972; Ramsey, 1973; Peter, 1979). However, others suggested that reliability remained relative constant for selfrating scales with both five and seven scales (Bending, 1953, 1954; Dawes, 2008; Komorita & Graham, 1965; Cicchetti et al., 1985; Cox III, 1980; Dawis, 1987). For example, one of the most recent studies (Dawes, 2008) found that five and seven-point scales produced the same mean score and each of them can easily be re-scaled with the resultant data being quite comparable. In the meantime, it has been argued that less



questions (e.g. Edwards et al., 2002; Kanuk & Berenson, 1975; Champion & Sear, 1969; Bean & Roszkowski, 1995) and respondent-friendly design improves survey response (e.g. Dillman, 1978; Kulka et al., 1991; Dillman & Reynolds, 1990; Dillman et al., 1991). Therefore, in order to give respondents a clearer view with a reader friendly feeling, five point response categories are used in all likert-type scaled questions in this study. Each sections of the survey instrument are described in the paragraphs below.

Screening questions

This section includes two screening questions with the purpose to reach to the targeted respondents: (1) who have traveled to an overseas destination outside Asia for leisure purpose in the past three years; (2) who have spent four or more nights during the trip with at least one night at a paid accommodation; (3) who have spent over 6,000 Chinese Yuan (RMB), i.e., approximately \$1,000, on shopping during the trip; (4) who have undertaken the shopping activities by him/herself excluding those who only paid for the shopping bill for someone else.

IN.1. How many trips (including business, leisure and visiting friends and relatives) have you taken overseas outside Asia during the past three years? (at least FOUR nights were spent and at least ONE night was at PAID ACCOMMODATION during such trips; non-Aisia destinations include destinations other than Japan, Korea and Southeast Aisia contries)

1→
2
3
4
5

IN.2. Did you ever spend RMB 6,000 or more for shopping during one of your overseas trip outside Asia in the past 3 years (excluding food and accommodation expenditure)? If you travelled as a family, please refer to the family's shopping expenditure).



No	
→TERMINATE	
Ves	2

General Information of respondents

The general information section measures travel related characteristics including travel destination, frequency of overseas shopping, amount spent on shopping during the overseas trip, length of stay in the destination, type of the tour, primary products bought, time spent on shopping during the overseas trip, shopping companion, and shopping allocation.

GI.1. What overseas destinations have you visited so far (Please select all that apply)

North America	1
Europe	2
Australia/New Zealand	3
Africa	4
Other (Please specify)	

GI.2. How many times have you shopped over 6,000 RMB while traveling to an overseas destination?

1 time	1
2 to 3 times	2
4 to 5 times	3
6 times and above	4

- GI.3. In which year did you take your most recent overseas trip and spent 6,000 RMB in shopping?
- GI.4. How much did you spend on shopping in that trip? (in RMB)

6,000 – 10,000	1
10,001 – 20,000	2
20,001 – 30,000	3
30,001 – 40,000	4
40.001 - 50.000	5
50,001or above	б

- GI.5. What was the destination country/region of that trip? (If you visited an area consists of multiple countries, for example, Europe, you can provide the name of the region) _____
- GI.6. How long did you stay in that destination country/area? ______days



GI.7. What is the tour type of your most recent overseas trip of this type?

GI.8. What primary products did you buy during that overseas trip? (Please select all that apply)

Apparel/Shoes/Handbags	1
Jewelry/Accessories	2
Healthcare products	3
Electronics	4
Cosmetics/Beauty care	5
Souvenirs	6
Other (Please specify)	

GI.9. In total, how many hours did you spend on shopping during that overseas trip? (Please provide an estimate)

5 hours or less	1
6 to 10 hours	2
11 to 20 hours	3
21 to 30 hours	4
21 to 30 hours	4
31 hours or more	4

GI.10. Please indicate persons you shopped with during that overseas trip (Please select all that apply)

Family members	1
Friends/Relatives	2
Co-workers	3
Travel group/Tour guide	4
Others (Please speficy)	

GI.11. What percentage of your total shopping expenditure was spent for others (the two percentage numbers must add up to 100%)?
1) Gifts for family, friends and relatives, co-workers, etc. _____%
2) Buy on others' behalf (with payment) ______%

Behavioral beliefs and Attitude

The measurement of behavioral beliefs comprises two dimensions: an individual's

beliefs in performing a particular behavior that will lead to a specific consequence; and

evaluation of the consequence (Ajzen & Fishben, 1975; Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980). This

section summarized 14 themes from the tourist shopping literature (Jansen-Verbeke,



1991; Keown et al., 1984; Wong & Law, 2002; Turner & Reisinger, 2001; Doyle &

Fenwick, 1974; Chewdhury et al., 1998) and the Chinese tourist shopping literature

(Heung & Cheng, 2000; Wong & Law, 2002; Lin & Lin, 2006; Xu & McGehee, 2012).

Behavioral beliefs are measured by asking respondents to rate their agreements of those

14 items in the context of shopping in the United States. Evaluations of outcomes of the

14 beliefs are measured by asking the importance of each item (Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006;

Ajzen, 2002, 2006; Hrubes & Ajzen, 2001)

BB. When answering all the following questions, please refer to your most recent non-Asia overseas trip in which you spent more than 6,000RMB. For each of the items listed below, select the number to the right that best describes your beliefs about shopping during the overseas trip.
1=Strongly disagree, 2= Disagree, 3=Neutral (neither disagree nor agree), 4= Agree, 5=Strongly agree

I believe shopping overseas would enable me to receive	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neural	Agree	Strongly agree
(a) High product quality	1	2	3	4	5
(b) Bringing back gifts for others	1	2	3	4	5
(c) Wide variety of product	1	2	3	4	5
(d) Genuine branded goods	1	2	3	4	5
(e) Good value for the money	1	2	3	4	5
(f) Commemoration of the trip	1	2	3	4	5
(g) Product uniqueness	1	2	3	4	5
(h) Access to world-known	1	2	3	4	5
brand					
(i) Hospitable service	1	2	3	4	5
(j) Attractive product price	1	2	3	4	5
(k) Fashion and novelty	1	2	3	4	5
(l) Unavailable in my own	1	2	3	4	5
country					
(m)Good store environment	1	2	3	4	5
(n) Product trustworthiness	1	2	3	4	5

Table 3.1 Behavioral Beliefs Items

OE. How important are the following items to you when *shopping in the overseas destination*?



1=very unimportant, 2= Unimportant, 3= Neutral, 4= Important, 5=Very important

How important is	Very unimportan t	Un importan t	Neutral	Importan t	Very importan t
(a) High product quality	1	2	3	4	5
(b) Bringing back gifts for	1	2	3	4	5
others					
(c) Wide variety of product	1	2	3	4	5
(d) Genuine branded goods	1	2	3	4	5
(e) Good value for the money	1	2	3	4	5
(f) Commemoration of the trip	1	2	3	4	5
(g) Product uniqueness	1	2	3	4	5
(h) Access to well-known brand	1	2	3	4	5
(i) Hospitable service	1	2	3	4	5
(j) Attractive product price	1	2	3	4	5
(k) Fashion and novelty	1	2	3	4	5
(l) Unavailable in my own country	1	2	3	4	5
(m)Attractive store environment	1	2	3	4	5
(n) Product trustworthiness	1	2	3	4	5

Table 3.2 Outcome Evaluation Items

Numerically, Attitude can be predicted by multiplying an individual's behavioral belief of each salient attribute associated with the behavior by the individual's evaluation of the corresponding outcomes of each salient attribute, and then the products are aggregated for the total set of beliefs (Ajzen, 2002, 2006), which is the interaction effect between behavioral beliefs and outcome evaluation. In measuring attitude, the following 6 attitudinal items are adopted from Hsu and Huang's (2009) study in using the TPB and tourist motivation to predict Chinese tourists' behavioral intentions in visiting Hong Kong. Respondents are asked to select the category that best describes their attitude about shopping in the United States.



ATT. To me shopping during the overseas trip is Please rate your agreement to the following descriptions.
1=Strongly disagree, 2= Disagree, 3=Neutral (neither disagree nor agree), 4= Agree, 5=Strongly agree

To me, shopping during the overseas trip is	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neural	Agree	Strongly agree
(a) Pleasant	1	2	3	4	5
(b) Enjoyable	1	2	3	4	5
(c) Important	1	2	3	4	5
(d) Worthwhile	1	2	3	4	5
(e) Satisfying	1	2	3	4	5
(f) Rewarding	1	2	3	4	5

Normative beliefs and Subjective norms

المنارات للاستشارات

The measurement of normative beliefs also constitutes two parts: What an individual's important others think he or she should do and the individual's motivation to comply (Ajzen & Fishben, 1975; Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980). Three reference groups, family, friends and relatives, and travel agent are adopted from previous TPB studies in predicting Chinese tourist's travel intention to Hong Kong (Lam & Hsu, 2004; Lam & Hsu, 2006). Two reference groups, co-workers and travel group fellows are particularly added for the overseas shopping context of this study. Respondents are asked to rate the extent of these reference groups' agreement on shopping during overseas trips, and the likelihood of complying with what their social reference groups think they should do.

NB. Please indicate to **what extent** people around you think you **should shop during overseas trip.**

1=Absolutely should not, 2= Should not, 3=Neutral, 4= Should, 5=Absolutely should

		Absolutely should not	Should not	Neutral	Should	Absolutely should
(a) My family	think I	1	2	3	4	5

Table 3.4 Normative Belie	efs Items
---------------------------	-----------



(b) My friends and relatives	should shop during the overseas trip	1	2	3	4	5
(c) My travel agent		1	2	3	4	5
(d) My co- workers		1	2	3	4	5
(e) My travel group fellows		1	2	3	4	5

MC. Thinking about shopping during an overseas trip, please indicate the likelihood of you complying with the wishes of people around you. 1=Very unlikely, 2= Unlikely, 3=Neutral, 4= Likely, 5=Very likely

How likely are you to listen to?	Very unlikely	Unlikely	Neutral	Likely	Very likely
(a) My family	1	2	3	4	5
(b) My friends and relatives	1	2	3	4	5
(c) My travel agent	1	2	3	4	5
(d) My co-workers	1	2	3	4	5
(e) My travel group fellows	1	2	3	4	5

Table 3.5 Motivation to Comply Items

Subjective norms questions are formed based on Ajzen's (2002, 2006)

measurement studies of the TPB and previous TPB research in both tourism and retail

context (Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Sparks, 2007; Sparks & Pan, 2009; Cannière et al.,

2009).

المنسارات

SN. Again, thinking about shopping during an overseas trip, please rate the agreement to the following descriptions about the influence of people around you.1=Strongly disagree, 2= Disagree, 3=Neutral (neither disagree nor agree), 4= Agree, 5=Strongly agree

Table 3.6	Subjective	Norms	Items
-----------	------------	-------	-------

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neural	Agree	Strongly agree
(a) Most people who are important	1	2	3	4	5



to me would think I should					
shop during an overseas trip.					
(b) Most people who are important to me would think I should					
take advantage of buying something during an overseas	1	2	3	4	5
trip.					
(c) Most people who are important to me would approve of my shopping during an overseas	1	2	3	4	5
trip.					

Control beliefs and perceived behavioral control

The perceptions of factors likely to facilitate or inhibit the performance of the behavior are referred to as control beliefs (Ajzen, 1991; Conner & Armitage, 1998). Control beliefs are measured by the salient inhibitors or facilitators along with the perceived power of each control beliefs (Ajzen, 1991). This section derived four themes from previous studies in Chinese outbound tourism and outbound tourism shopping (Xu & McGehee, 2012; Lam & Hsu, 2004; Sparks & Pan, 2009) to test whether tourist's control beliefs would influence his/her shopping intention and actual behavior. Questions of control beliefs and perceived power are formulated based on Ajzen's (2002, 2006) questionnaire design study of the TPB construct and several TPB studies in the tourism setting (Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Hsu & Huang, 2009). Firstly, respondents are asked to select their agreement under a five-point likert scale with the six themes including language barrier, limited shopping time, limited payment method, shopping cost, inconvenience in transportation, and mandatory shopping trips. Secondly, the perceived power of control beliefs is evaluated under a five-point likelihood scale by rating the influence of each control belief.



CB. For each of the descriptions listed below, circle the number to the right that best describes your agreement with *the issues you may have when shopping during overseas trip* (refer to your most recent overseas trip) .1=strongly disagree, 2= disagree, 3=Neutral (neither disagree nor agree), 4= agree, 5=Strongly agree

When shopping during overseas trip	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neural	Agree	Strongly agree
(a) I have language/ Communication barriers	1	2	3	4	5
(b) There is limited time to shop	1	2	3	4	5
(c) There are limited payment methods for shopping	1	2	3	4	5
(d) Shopping could cost me a lot	1	2	3	4	5
(e) There is inconvenience in transportation for shopping	1	2	3	4	5
(f) I have to go for the mandatory shopping arranged by travel agents	1	2	3	4	5
(g) Other (please specify)	1	2	3	4	5

P. Please rate the likelihood of the following items about *the influence of the possible shopping problems*. 1=Very unlikely, 2= unlikely, 3=Neutral, 4= likely, 5=Very likely

How likely these shopping problems would influence you	Very unlikely	Unlikely	Neutral	Likely	Very likely
(a) Communication/language barriers would influence my buying decision	1	2	3	4	5
(b) Time spent on shopping would affect my buying decision	1	2	3	4	5
(c) Payment method would influence my buying decision	1	2	3	4	5
(d) Shopping cost would influence my buying decision	1	2	3	4	5
(e) Transportation concerns would influence my buying decision	1	2	3	4	5
(f) Mandatory shopping arrangements would influence my buying decision	1	2	3	4	5

Table 3.8 Power Items



Questions of perceived behavioral control are phrased based on Ajzen's (2002,

2006) TPB measurement study and several TPB studies in both tourism and retail settings

(Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Sparks, 2007; Sparks & Pan 2009; Cannière et al., 2009). Four

themes of possible shopping issues during an overseas trip (Xu & McGehee, 2012; Lam

& Hsu, 2004; Sparks, 2007; Sparks & Pan, 2009) are incorporated into the perceived

behavioral control questions. Respondents are asked to rate their agreement under a five-

point likert scale about the perceived behavioral control of shopping in the United States.

PBC. Please indicate to what extend you agree or disagree with the following statement about factors that may control your shopping experience overseas.
1=Strongly disagree, 2= Disagree, 3=Neutral (neither disagree nor agree), 4= Agree, 5=Strongly agree

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neural	Agree	Strongly agree
(a) If I want, I have control over shopping during an overseas trip	1	2	3	4	5
(b) If I want, I would be able to do shopping during an overseas trip	1	2	3	4	5
(c) If I want, I could easily do shopping during an overseas trip	1	2	3	4	5

Table 3.9 Perceived Behavioral Control Items

Behavioral Intentions

The behavioral intentions section includes four items describing tourist shoppers' intentions to shop again during future overseas trips. Five point likert scale ranging from extremely unlikely to extremely likely has been adopted. The measurement of intentions is based on Ajzen's measurement study (2002, 2006) of the TPB as well as three studies on predicting Chinese tourists' travel intentions to Hong Kong by applying the TPB and adjusted model of TPB (Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Hsu & Huang, 2009). The intentions



section will be put as the last section in the questionnaire (excluding demographics) to

follow the respondents' engaging logic.

INT. Thinking about your intentions to shop during overseas trip in the future, please rate your agreement on the following description. 1=Strongly disagree, 2= Disagree, 3=Neutral (neither disagree nor agree), 4= Agree, 5=Strongly agree

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neural	Agree	Strongly agree
(a) I intend to shop during my future overseas trip	1	2	3	4	5
(b) I plan to shop during my future overseas trip	1	2	3	4	5
(c) I desire to shop during my future overseas trip	1	2	3	4	5
(d) I probably will shop again during my future overseas trip	1	2	3	4	5

Table 3.10 Intentions Items

Demographics

The final portion of the survey includes seven demographic questions and one open ended question. The demographic information is important in order compare them against the dependent and independent variables. The household income categories are adopted from two most recent studies on Chinese outbound tourists to America (Li & Stepchenkova, 2012; Stepchenkova & Li, 2012). In addition, shop companions (Borges et al., 2010; Prus, 1993) are added particularly due to the study context

Female......2

D2. What is your residency city? _____

D3. What is your marrital status? Are you...? [READ LIST. ACCEPT ONLY ONE.]

Single1



Married/Partner	2
Separated/Divorced/Widowed	3
Other	4
Prefer not to say [DO NOT READ]	99

D4. Which of the following broad categories includes your age?

18-25	1
26-35	2
36-45	3
46-55	4
56-65	5
66 or above	6
Refuse to answer	

D5. What is the highest level of education you have completed? [READ LIST. ACCEPT ONLY ONE]

High school/Vocational/Technical school or below	1
Associate degree or some college	2
College degree	3
Graduate work/Master's/Doctoral degree	4
Or something else (please specify)	5
Prefer not to say [DO NOT READ]	

D6. Which of the following broad categories best describes your approximate monthly household income in 2012 before taxes (RMB)? [READ LIST. ACCEPT ONLY ONE]

Below 4,000	1
4.001 to 7.000	2
7.001 to 10.000	3
10.001 to 20.000	4
20.001 to 30.000	5
30.001 to 40.000	6
40.001 to 50.000	7
50.001 or above	8
Prefer not to say [DO NOT READ]	.99

D7. Please indicate your employment status.

Employed full-time/part-time	1
Housewife (Househusband)/Homemaker	2
Temporarily unemployed/looking for work	3
Retired	4
Student	5
Other (please specify)6
Prefer not to say [DO NOT READ]	

3.4 DATA COLLECTION



Intercept interviews were conducted by a professional research company in China in May 2013. A total of 300 completed, useful surveys were collected by this research company. The survey sites include high-end locations such as upper-class neighborhoods, premium shopping malls, luxury restaurants and hotels in Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou. Well-trained interviewers were hired by the research company to conduct the intercept interview. To increase response rate and improve reply quality, monetary incentive are offered to each participant. Additionally, the research company was required to take quality control measures such as on-site training, result review, central briefing and supervisor back check.

3.5 METHOD OF DATA ANALYSIS

In order to analyze the data, SPSS 20 will be used. First, an exploratory factor analysis approach was taken to determine the scales for each construct, namely, behavioral beliefs, outcome evaluation, attitude, normative beliefs, motivation to comply, subjective norms, control beliefs, power of control beliefs, perceived behavioral control, and behavioral intentions. Next, Cronbach's *alpha* value for the scales will be determined to measure scale reliability (.70 and above). Then a series of two-way ANOVA will be conducted to test the interaction effect between each set of individual variables such behavioral beliefs and outcome evaluation. Lastly, a series of multiple regression analyses will be used to identify potential predictions, which includes the prediction of attitude, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control and that of behavioral intentions.



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

4.1 DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS

Of the 300 respondents, 51% were females and 49% were males. Most classified themselves as married or have partner (77%) followed by single (21%), or separated/divorced/widowed (2%). Most of the respondents were within the age range of 26 to 35 (28%), 46 to 55 (25%) and 36 to 45 (24%). Percentages of respondents' residency cities were evenly allocated in Beijing (33%), Shanghai (33%) and Guangzhou (33%). The respondents' highest level of education completed included college degree (35%), Associate degree or some college (31%), High school/Vocational/Technical school or below (27%), and Graduate work/Master's/Doctoral degree (7%). The respondents had varying amounts of monthly household income. The largest group earned between 10,001 and 20,000 RMB (41%) per month, followed by the group whose income is between 20,001 and 30,000 RMB (19%). The third group earned between 7,000 to 10,000 RMB (18%) monthly, and the smallest group earned less than 7,000 (2%) per month. The majority of the respondents were employed full-time or part-time (82%) followed by retired (11%). Student, other, temporarily unemployed/looking for work, and Housewife (Househusband)/Homemaker accounts for 3%, 2%, 1%, and 1% respectively. Table 4.1 summarizes respondents' demographic information.

Table 4.1 Demographic Characteristics of the Respondents



Variable	Frequency	Percentage
Gender		
Male	146	49%
Female	154	51%
Residency City		
Beijing	100	33%
Shanghai	100	33%
Guangzhou	100	33%
Marital Status		
Single	63	21%
Married/Partner	232	77%
Separated/Divorced/Widowed	5	2%
Age		
18-25	29	10%
26-35	83	28%
36-45	72	24%
46-55	74	25%
56-65	21	7%
66 or above	21	7%
Education Level		
High school/Vocational/Technical school or	81	27%
below		
Associate degree or some college	93	31%
College degree	106	35%
Graduate work/Master's/Doctoral degree	20	7%
Monthly Household Income (RMB)		
4,001 to 7,000	6	2%
7,001 to 10,000	53	18%
10,001 to 20,000	123	41%
20,001 to 30,000	56	19%
30,001 to 40,000	30	10%
40,001 to 50,000	17	6%
50,001 or above	15	5%
Employment Status		
Employed full-time/part-time	246	82%
Housewife (Househusband)/Homemaker	2	1%
Temporarily unemployed/looking for work	2	1%
Retired	34	11%
Student	10	3%
Other	6	2%

4.2 TRAVEL & SHOPPING RELATED CHARACTERISTICS

Most of the respondents visited Europe (36%) before, followed by North America

(30%). Australia/New Zealand (30%), and Africa (21%). When asked about how many



times that they spent over 6,000 RMB on shopping during an overseas trip, the majority (65%) answered 1 time, and 30% answered 2 to 3 times (30%). Only 3 respondents (1%) indicated 6 times and above. The largest group spent between 10,001 to 20,000 RMB (38%) on shopping during their most recent overseas trip with shopping expenditures over 6,000 RMB. The second largest group spent between 6,000 and 10,000 (21%) on shopping, followed by 20,001 to 30,000 (17%), 30,001 to 40,000 (10%), 50,000 and above (8%), and 40,001 to 50,000 (7%). As for the length of stay in the overseas destination, most of the respondents spent 1 to 2 weeks (68%) and 3 to 4 weeks (26%). Only 5% of the respondents spent less than a week for an overseas trip and only 3 respondents (1%) indicated the length of stay was more than one month. Respondents who attended packaged tours (56%) were about 10% more than that went as Full Independent Tourist (44%). Respondents indicated that they purchased a wide range of products. apparel/shoes/handbags (79%) were found to be the top choices, followed by jewelry/accessories (65%), souvenirs (64%), cosmetics/beauty care (58%), electronics (42%), and Healthcare products (25%). Most of the respondents spent between 6 and 10 (41%) and between 11 and 20 (30%) hours on shopping during an overseas trip and were accompanied by family members (54%) and friends or relatives (46%) while shopping. 22% of the respondents indicated travel group or tour guide are their shopping companions and 16% selected co-workers. When asking about the allocation of shopping expenditure for others, averagely 77% were spent on buying gifts for family, friends and relatives whereas 23% were spent on buying on others' behalf. Table 4.2 summarizes respondents' travel and shopping related information.

Table 4.2 Travel & Shopping Related Characteristics of the Respondents



Variable	Frequency	Percentage
Overseas destination visited	1 0	0
Europe	108	36%
North America	91	30%
Australia/New Zealand	91	30%
Africa	62	21%
Number of times spent 6,000 + on shopping		
(RMB)		
1 time	196	65%
2 to 3 times	91	30%
4 to 5 times	10	3%
6 times and above	3	1%
Amount spent on shopping in such a trip (RMB)	-	
6.000 - 10.000	62	21%
10.001 - 20.000	113	38%
20.001 - 30.000	51	17%
30,001 - 40,000	31	10%
40.001 - 50.000	20	7%
50 001 or above	23	8%
Length of stay in the destination	25	070
Less than a week	15	5%
1 to 2 weeks	202	5% 68%
3 to 4 weeks	80	26%
More than a month	3	1%
Type of the tour	5	170
Packaged tour	160	56%
Full Independent Tour (FIT)	131	11%
Primary products bought	151	++ /0
Apparel/Shoes/Handbags	237	79%
Apparent Shoes/Handbags	10/	65%
Souvenirs	107	6/%
Cosmotios/Reputy core	174	5804
Electronics	174	J870 1206
Healthcare products	123 74	4270
Hours growt on shorping during the trip	/4	2370
5 hours or less	36	1204
5 hours of less	124	12.70
11 to 20 hours	01	41%
$\begin{array}{c} 11 \text{ to } 20 \text{ hours} \\ 21 \text{ to } 20 \text{ hours} \end{array}$	91 20	30%
21 to 50 hours	30 10	10%
Shanning composion	19	0%
Snopping companion	1.00	540/
Fainity members	102	54%
Friends/Kelatives	138	40%
ravel group/ four guide	0/	22%
CO-WORKERS	48	16%
Shopping expenditure for others		



	Mean
Gifts for family, friends and relatives, co-workers,	77.49
etc%	
Buy on others' behalf (with payment)%	22.51

4.3 FACTOR ANALYSIS

4.3.1 Behavioral Beliefs

المنسارات للاستشارات

In order to determine the underlying dimensions of the correlated behavioral beliefs variables toward shopping during overseas trips, the 14 items were factor analyzed utilizing a principal components analysis with varimax rotation. Three items, 'Bringing back gifts for others', 'Wide variety of product', and 'Product uniqueness' were deleted due to low loadings. The overall significance of the correlation matrix was 0.000, with a Barlett test of sphericity value of 990.864 and Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin value of 0.855. Therefore, the data were suitable for the proposed statistical procedure of factor analysis (Hair et al., 2002). The result suggested that a three-factor solution be identified, representing approximately 59.5% of the total variance in behavioral beliefs (See Table 4.3). All retained factors had an eigenvalue greater than 1 and all factor loadings were above .50. The three factors were labeled as 'Product and store attributes', 'Price' and 'Travel-related benefits'. The 'Product and store attributes' factor presented the highest percentage of the total variance (29.3%), which indicated that product and store attributes served as a very important behavioral belief factor of the respondents toward shopping during overseas trips. The reliability coefficients (Cronbach's alpha) are listed in the table below.

Factor	Factor loading	Eigenvalue	Explained variance	Reliability coefficient
Factor 1: Product and store	_	4.228	29.3%	0.840

Table 4.3 Behavioral beliefs about shopping during overseas trip

attributes				
Hospitable service	0.781			
Good store environment	0.699			
Product trustworthiness	0.696			
High product quality	0.673			
Genuine branded goods	0.635			
Access to world-known brand	0.627			
Fashion and novelty	0.524			
Factor 2: Price		1.309	18.5%	0.675
Good value for the money	0.832			
Attractive product price	0.761			
Factor 3: Travel-related benefits		1.002	11.7%	0.385
Unavailable in my own country	0.808			
Commemoration of the trip	0.712			
Total variance explained			59.5%	

4.3.2 Outcome evaluation

With the purpose to keep the items of each factor in outcome evaluation consistent with these in behavioral beliefs, three factors were grouped manually following the factor analysis result of behavioral beliefs. The reliability coefficients of each factor in outcome evaluation were tested to prove the internal consistency of the items. Following the item-grouping rules of behavioral beliefs, Factor 1 in outcome evaluation included 'Hospitable service', 'Good store environment', 'Product trustworthiness', 'High product quality', 'Genuine branded goods', 'Access to worldknown brand', and 'Fashion and novelty'. Factor 1 was labeled 'Product and store attributes' and had a reliability value (Cronbach's alpha) of 0.806. Factor 2 in outcome evaluation included 'Good value for the money' and 'Attractiv product price'. Factor 2 was labeled 'Price' and had a reliability value (Cronbach's alpha) of 0.721. Factor 3 included 'Unavailable in my own country' and 'Commemoration of the trip'. Factor 3 was labeled 'Travel-related attributes' and had a reliability value (Cronbach's alpha) of 0.441.

4.3.3 Attitude



Summated variable of attitude was generated by adding the scores of the six attitude items, 'Pleasant', 'Enjoyable', 'Important', 'Worthwhile', 'Satisfying' and 'Rewarding'. The mean value of each respondent's average attitude score was then calculated dividing the summated scores by six

4.3.4 Subjective norms

In order to determine the underlying dimensions of the correlated subjective norms variables towards shopping during overseas trips, the 3 items were factor analyzed utilizing a principal components analysis with varimax rotation. The overall significance of the correlation matrix was 0.000, with a Barlett test of sphericity value of 199.475 and Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin value of 0.669. Therefore, the data were suitable for the proposed statistical procedure of factor analysis (Hair et al., 2002). The result suggested that a unidimensional solution be identified, representing approximately 65.6% of the total variance in subjective norms (See Table 4.4). This one factor had an eigenvalue greater than 1 and the loadings above .40. The factor was labeled as 'Subjective Norms'. The reliability coefficient (Cronbach's alpha) was 0.737.

Table 4.4 Subjective Norms on shopping during overseas trips

Factor	Factor loading	Eigenvalue	Explained variance	Reliability coefficient
Factor: Subjective Norms		1.967	65.6%	0.737
Most people who are important to me would shopping during an overseas trip	0.849			
Most people who are important to me would think I should take advantage of buying something during an overseas trip	0.807			
Most people who are important to me would think I should shop during an overseas trip	0.771			
Total variance explained			65.6%	



4.3.5 Control beliefs

In order to determine the underlying dimensions of the correlated control beliefs variables towards shopping during overseas trips, the 6 items were factor analyzed utilizing a principal components analysis with varimax rotation. Two items, 'I have language/communication barriers' and 'Shopping could cost me a lot' were deleted due to low reliability. The overall significance of the correlation matrix was 0.000, with a Barlett test of sphericity value of 251.679 and Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin value of 0.735. Therefore, the data were suitable for the proposed statistical procedure of factor analysis (Hair et al., 2002). The result suggested that a unidimensional solution be identified, representing approximately 56.2% of the total variance in normative beliefs (See Table 4.5). This one factor had an eigenvalue greater than 1 and all factor loadings were above .40. The factor was labeled as 'Overseas shopping constraints'. The reliability coefficient (Cronbach's alpha) was 0.738.

Factor	Factor loading	Eigenvalue	Explained variance	Reliability coefficient
Factor 1: Overseas shopping	louung	2.246	56.2%	0.738
constraints				
There are limited payment methods for shopping	0.781			
I have to go for the mandatory shopping arranged by travel agents	0.748			
There is limited time to shop	0.745			
There is inconvenience in transportation for shopping	0.723			
Total variance explained			56.2%	

Table 4.5 Control Beliefs about shopping during overseas trips

4.3.6 Power of the control beliefs



In order to determine the underlying dimensions of the correlated power of the control beliefs towards shopping during overseas trips, the 6 items were factor analyzed utilizing a principal components analysis with varimax rotation. One item, 'Payment method would influence my buying decision' was deleted due to non-loading. The overall significance of the correlation matrix was 0.000, with a Barlett test of sphericity value of 461.602 and Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin value of 0.803. Therefore, the data were suitable for the proposed statistical procedure of factor analysis (Hair et al., 2002). The result suggested that a unidimensional solution be identified, representing approximately 56.6% of the total variance in normative beliefs (See Table 4.6). This one factor had an eigenvalue greater than 1 and all factor loadings were above .40. The factor was labeled as 'Overseas shopping constraints'. The reliability coefficient (Cronbach's alpha) was 0.805.

Factor	Factor loading	Eigenvalue	Explained variance	Reliability coefficient
Factor 1: Power of controlling overseas shopping constraints	_	2.830	56.6%	0.805
Transportation concerns would influence my buying decision	0.814			
Communication/language barriers would influence my	0.794			
buying decision				
Mandatory shopping arrangements would influence my buying decision	0.761			
Time spent ton shopping would affect my buying decision	0.728			
Shopping cost would influence my buying decision	0.654			
Total variance explained			56.6%	

Table 4.6 Power of Control Beliefs about shopping during overseas trips

4.3.7 Perceived behavioral control



In order to determine the underlying dimensions of the correlated perceived behavioral control towards shopping during overseas trips, the 3 items were factor analyzed utilizing a principal components analysis with varimax rotation. One item, the overall significance of the correlation matrix was 0.000, with a Barlett test of sphericity value of 235.536 and Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin value of 0.697. Therefore, the data were suitable for the proposed statistical procedure of factor analysis (Hair et al., 2002). The result suggested that a unidimensional solution be identified, representing approximately 68.6% of the total variance in normative beliefs (See Table 4.7). This one factor had an eigenvalue greater than 1 and all factor loadings were above .40. The factor was labeled as 'Perceived control on overseas shopping'. The reliability coefficient (Cronbach's alpha) was 0.805.

Table 4.7 Perceived Behavioral Control about shopping during overseas trips

Factor	Factor loading	Eigenvalue	Explained variance	Reliability coefficient
Factor 1: Perceived control on	_	2.059	68.6%	0.805
overseas shopping				
If I want, I would be able to do	0.847			
shopping during an overseas trip				
If I want, I have control over	0.820			
shopping during an overseas trip				
If I want, I could easily do	0.818			
shopping during an overseas trip				
Total variance explained			68.6%	

4.3.8 Intentions

In order to determine the underlying dimensions of the intentions towards shopping during overseas trips, the 4 items were factor analyzed utilizing a principal components analysis with varimax rotation. One item, the overall significance of the correlation matrix was 0.000, with a Barlett test of sphericity value of 268.414 and



Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin value of 0.680. Therefore, the data were suitable for the proposed statistical procedure of factor analysis (Hair et al., 2002). The result suggested that a unidimensional solution be identified, representing approximately 54.8% of the total variance in normative beliefs (See Table 4.8). This one factor had an eigenvalue greater than 1 and all factor loadings were above .40. The factor was labeled as 'Shopping intention during overseas trips'. The reliability coefficient (Cronbach's alpha) was 0.722.

Table 4.8	Intentions	about	shonning	during	overseas	tring
1 abic 7.0	mentions	about	snopping	uuring	Overseas	uips

Factor	Factor loading	Eigenvalue	Explained variance	Reliability coefficient
Factor 1: Shopping intention during	_	2.191	54.8%	0.722
overseas trips				
I desire to shop during my	0.794			
future overseas trip				
I plan to shop during my future	0.791			
overseas trip				
I probably will shop again	0.779			
during my future overseas trip				
I intend to shop during my	0.574			
future overseas trip				
Total variance explained			54.8%	

4.4 ANOVA: TESTING INTERACTION EFFECTS

Before running Multiple Regressions to predict each dependent variable in the model, namely, Attitude, Subjective Norms, Perceived Behavioral Control and Intentions, a series of two-way ANOVA analysis was applied to test whether there would be significant interaction effect between Behavioral Beliefs and Outcome Evaluation, between Normative Beliefs and Motivation to Comply, and between Control Beliefs and Power of Control Beliefs. This procedure is to determine whether the interaction effects of each set of independent variables should be included in the predictors of corresponding



independent variables in the following multiple regression analyses. Table 4.9 demonstrates the interaction effects statistics of each set of independent variables.

From the significant values of each interaction effect, there were no significant interaction between Behavioral Beliefs factor 1 and Outcome Evaluation factor 1, product and store attributes, between Behavioral Beliefs factor 2 and Outcome Evaluation factor 2, Price, and between Behavioral Beliefs factor 3 and Outcome Evaluation factor 3, travel-related attributes. Therefore, these three interaction variables would not be considered as predictors in predicting Attitude in the following multiple regression test. In addition, non-significant interaction effect exists between Control Beliefs factor 1 and Power factor1, overseas shopping constraints. Thus, the interaction effect of Control Beliefs and Power of Control Beliefs would not be included in predicting Perceived Behavioral Control in the multiple regression analysis. However, four sets of Normative Beliefs and Motivation to Comply items showed significant interaction effects (p < 0.05). Therefore, these four sets of interaction effects between Normative Beliefs and Motivation to Comply would be considered as predictors along with other 10 individual predictors (5 NB items and 5 MC items) in establishing the regression model of Subjective Norms.

Interaction effect variable	Type III SS	Mean Square	F-Value	Sig.
Behavioral Beliefs * Outcome				
Evaluation				
BB Factor1 * OE Factor1	7.707	0.106	0.975	0.539
BB Factor2 * OE Factor2	3.616	0.172	1.336	0.152
BB Factor3 * OE Factor3	3.794	0.200	1.527	0.076
Normative Beliefs * Motivation to				
Comply				
NB Item1 * MC Item1	0.501	0.167	0.580	0.629
NB Item2 * MC Item2	3.696	0.924	3.424	0.009

Table 4.9 Interaction Effects of BB and OE, and CB and Power



13.303	0.950	3.662	0.000
1.894	1.224	4.944	0.001
6.314	0.574	2.080	0.022
20.331	0.295	0.856	0.771
	13.303 1.894 6.314 20.331	13.3030.9501.8941.2246.3140.57420.3310.295	13.3030.9503.6621.8941.2244.9446.3140.5742.08020.3310.2950.856

4.5 MULTIPLE REGRESSIONS

4.5.1 Regression I: predicting attitude

A multiple regression analysis was conducted to evaluate how well 'Attitudes' is predicted by 'Behavioral Beliefs' and 'Outcome Evaluation'. The mean score of the five 'Attitude' items was computed to be used as the dependent variable in the regression equation. The three 'Behavioral Beliefs' factor scores and the three "Outcome Evaluation' factor scores were used in the regression analysis as independent variables. Because the previous ANOVA tests showed non-significant interaction effects between each BB factor and OE factor, the interaction effect was not included in predicting the dependent variable. In total, six predictors were entered. The following equation summarizes the computed relationship between the variables in the regression model: Attitude = $\alpha + \beta_1 bbFactor1 + \beta_2 bbFactor2 + \beta_3 bbFactor3 + \beta_4 oeFactor1 + \beta_5 oeFactor2 + \beta_4 bbFactor1 + \beta_5 oeFactor2 + \beta_4 bbFactor3 + \beta_4 bbFactor3 + \beta_4 bbFactor3 + \beta_5 bbFactor3$ β_{60} oeFactor3 + ξ . The results suggested there were statistically significant correlations between Behavioral Beliefs and Attitude as well as Outcome Evaluation and Attitude. The Behavioral Belief scale was positively correlated with Attitudes based on the r and p values of Factor 1 (r = 0.416, p < 0.001), Factor 2 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.253, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.00(0.136, p < 0.05). The Outcome Evaluation scale was also positively correlated with Attitudes with Factor 1 (r = 0.480, p < 0.001), Factor 2 (r = 0.271, p < 0.001) and Factor 3 (r = 0.188, p < 0.05).



From the Coefficients output, the initial regression model was: Attitude = 1.794 + 0.205 bbFactor1 + 0.092 bbFactor2 + 0.077 bbFactor3 + 0.366 oeFactor1 – 0.126 oeFactor2 + 0.090 oeFactor3. The Adjusted R Square was 0.263; therefore, about 27.7% of the variation in Attitudes was explained by the three Behavioral Beliefs factors and the three Outcome Evaluation Factors. The ANOVA results, *F* (6, 293) = 18.713, *p* < 0.001, suggested that at the 0.05 level of significance, there existed enough evidence to conclude that at least one of the predictors is useful for predicting Attitudes; therefore, the model was useful. The *t* and *p* values of each coefficient were used to assess the significance of the Beta weights. bbFactor2 (β_2 = 0.902, *t* = 1.502, *p* > 0.05), bbFactor3 (β_3 = 0.077, t = 1.298, p > 0.05), oeFactor2 (β_5 = -0.126, *t* = -1.789, *p* > 0.05), and oeFactor3 (β_6 = 0.090, *t* = 1.480, *p* > 0.05) were not statistically significant in predicting Attitudes because of below-0.05 *p* values. Thus, these four independent variables were deleted. The final regression model in predicting Attitudes can be described as: Attitude = 1.794 + 0.205[β_1] bbFactor1 + 0.366[β_1] oeFactor1. Table 4.10 presents the details of the regression model.

Table 4.10 Predicting attitude

Model	Beta Coeff.	<i>t</i> -Value	Sig.	Adjust R2	F-Value
(Constant)	1.794	7.664	0.000	0.263	18.749
bbFactor1	0.205	2.838	0.005		
bbFactor2	0.092	1.502	0.134		
bbFactor3	0.077	1.298	0.195		
oeFactor1	0.366	4.365	0.000		
oeFactor2	-0.126	-1.789	0.075		
oeFactor3	0.090	1.480	0.140		

4.5.2 Regression II: predicting subjective norms

A multiple regression analysis was conducted to evaluate how well 'Subjective Norms (SN)' is predicted by 'Normative Beliefs (NB)' and 'Motivation to Comply (MC)'.



The unidimensional factor score of SN was used as the dependent variable in this regression analysis. Individual scores of the five NB items, the five MC items, and the four significant interaction effects produced by multiplying each NB item and each MC item were used as the independent variables. Therefore, totoally fourteen predictors (independent variables) were entered. The following equation summarizes the computed relationship between the variables in the regression model: $SN = \alpha + \beta_1 nb_1 + \beta_2 nb_2 + \beta_3 nb_3 + \beta_4 nb_4 + \beta_5 nb_5 + \beta_6 mc_1 + \beta_7 mc_2 + \beta_8 mc_3 + \beta_9 mc_4 + \beta_{10} mc_5 + \beta_{11} nb_2^* mc_2 + \beta_{12} nb_3^* mc_3 + \beta_{13} nb_4^* mc_4 + \beta_{14} nb_5^* mc_5 + \xi$. The results suggested there were statistically significant correlations between NB and SN, MC and SN, and between the interaction of NB and MC and SN. All the NB and MC items were positively correlated with SN with *p* values below 0.05. The four interaction items were also positively correlated with SN with significant *p* values.

From the Coefficients output, the Adjusted R Square was 0.127; therefore, about 12.4% of the variation in Subjective Norms was explained by the independent variables. The ANOVA results, F(14, 285) = 4.113, p < 0.001, suggested that at the 0.05 level of significance, there existed enough evidence to conclude that at least one of the predictors was useful for predicting Subjective Norms; therefore, the model was useful. The *t* and *p* values of each coefficient were used to assess the significance of the Beta weights. Only Normative Beliefs of 'My co-workers' ($\beta_4 = 0.904$, t = 2.786, p < 0.05), Motivation to Comply of 'My co-workers' ($\beta_9 = 1.101$, t = 2.586, p < 0.05), and the interaction effect of NB 'My co-workers' and MC 'My co-workers' ($\beta_{13} = -1.312$, t = -2.185, p < 0.05) produced significant *p* values in predicting Subjective Norms. The rest 13 independent variables were deleted because of non-significant *p* values. Therefore, the



final regression model can be described as: Subjective Norms = $1.886 + 0.904[\beta_4]$ NB my co-workers + $1.101[\beta_9]$ MC my co-workers – $1.312[\beta_{13}]$ NB my co-workers * MC my co-workers. Table 4.11 presents the details of the regression model.

Table 4.11 Predicting subjective norms

Model	Beta Coeff.	<i>t</i> -Value	Sig.	Adjusted R2	<i>F</i> -Value
(Constant)	1.886	0.923	0.357	0.127	4.113
NB my co-workers	0.904	2.786	0.006		
MC my co-workers	1.101	2.586	0.010		
NB my co-workers *	-1.312	-2.185	0.030		
MC my co-workers					

4.5.3 Regression III: predicting perceived behavioral control

A multiple regression analysis was conducted to evaluate how well 'Perceived Behavioral Control (PBC)' is predicted by 'Control Beliefs (CB)', 'Power of Control Beliefs (P)' and the Interaction of the two variables. The one-dimensional factor score of the three 'Perceived Behavioral Control' items was computed to be used as the dependent variable in the regression analysis. The one-dimensional 'Control Beliefs' factor score, the one-dimensional "Power of Control Beliefs' factor score, and the multiplied interaction scores were used in the regression analysis as independent variables. In total, three predictors were entered. The following equation summarizes the computed relationship between the variables in the regression model: PBC = $\alpha + \beta_1 cbFactor$ + $\beta_2 pFactor + \beta_3 cb^* p + \xi$. The results suggested there were no statistically significant correlations between CB and PBC, Power and PBC, and the interaction between CB * Power and PBC. The CB was negatively correlated with PBC (r = -0.071, p > 0.05).



Power was positively correlated with PBC (r = 0.03, p > 0.05). The interaction between CB and Power was positively correlated with PBC (r = 0.01, p > 0.05).

From the Coefficients output, the initial regression model was: PBC = 6.63 - 1.31 CB - 0.76 Power + 1.90 CB*Power. The R Square was 0.090; therefore, about 9% of the variation in PBC is explained by CB, Power and CB*Power. The ANOVA results, F(3, 296) = 9.736, p < 0.001, suggested that at the 0.05 level of significance, there existed enough evidence to conclude that at least one of the predictors was useful for predicting Attitudes; therefore, the model was useful. The *t* and *p* values of each coefficient were used to assess the significance of the Beta weights. All the *p* values of the independent variables were below 0.001, which suggested that CB, Power and CB*Power was statistically significant in predicting PBC. Therefore, the final regression model in predicting PBC can be described as: PBC = $6.63 - 1.31[\beta_1] \text{ CB} - 0.76[\beta_2]$ Power + $1.90[\beta_3] \text{ CB*Power}$. Table 4.12 presents the details of the regression model.

Table 4.12 Predicting perceived behavioral control

Model	Beta Coeff.	<i>t</i> -Value	Sig.	R-Square	F-Value
(Constant)	6.627	12.007	0.000	0.090	9.736
Control Beliefs	-1.314	-5.338	0.000		
Power	-0.760	-3.794	0.000		
CB*Power	1.900	4.883	0.000		

4.5.4 Regression IV: predicting intentions

A multiple regression analysis was conducted to evaluate how well 'Intentions' toward shopping during overseas trips is predicted by 'Attitude', 'Subjective Norms (SN)' and "Perceived Behavioral Control (PBC)'. The unidimensional factor score of 'Intentions' was used as the dependent variable for the regression analysis. The mean score of the five 'Attitude' items was computed to be used as the first independent



variable. The one-dimensional factor scores of both 'Subjective Norms' and 'Perceived Behavioral Control' were used as the other two independent variables. In total, three predictors were entered. The following equation summarizes the computed relationship between the variables in the regression model: Intentions = α + β_1 Attitude + β_2 SN + β_3 PBC + ξ . The results suggested there are statistically significant correlations between Attitudes and Intentions, SN and Intentions, and PBC and Intentions. Attitude (r = 0.31, p< 0.001), SN (r = 0.41, p < 0.001) and PBC (r = 0.18, p < 0.05) were all positively correlated with Intentions.

From the Coefficients output, the initial regression model was: Intentions = 1.69 + 0.19 Attitudes + 0.34 SN + 0.04 PBC. The R Square was 0.203; therefore, about 20.3% of the variation in Attitudes was explained by the independent variables. The ANOVA results, F(3, 296) = 25.072, p < 0.001, suggested that at the 0.05 level of significance, there existed enough evidence to conclude that at least one of the predictors is useful for predicting Intentions; therefore, the model was useful. The *t* and *p* values of each coefficient were used to assess the significance of the Beta weights. PBC ($\beta_3 = 0.036$, t = 0.653, p > 0.05) was not statistically significant in predicting Intentions can be described as: Intentions = $1.69 + 0.19[\beta_1]$ Attitudes + $0.34[\beta_2]$ SN. Table 4.13 presents the details of the regression model.

Table 4.	13	Predicting	intentions
racie ii	10	1 reareany	meentomo

Model	Beta Coeff.	<i>t</i> -Value	Sig.	R-Square	F-Value
(Constant)	1.691	5.310	0.000	0.203	25.072
Attitudes	0.191	3.490	0.001		
Subjective Norms	0.336	5.798	0.000		
PBC	0.036	0.653	0.514		


CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION

5.1 SUMMARY OF THE ANALYSIS

5.1.1 Demographic and travel-related characteristics

According to the demographic frequencies of the sample, most long haul outbound Chinese tourists who had overseas shopping experience during their trips are married, received above-high school education, full-time employed and have a monthly household income between approximately 2,000 to 5,000 US dollar. Most of them are young adults or at their middle adulthood. Based on the travel-related characteristics of the sample, Respondents who attend packaged tours are about 10% more than that travel as Full Independent Tourist. Above two thirds of the respondents shopped only once over about \$1,000 US dollar during their overseas trip(s), indicating that overseas shopping for Chinese outbound tourists is still at its emerging stage. Most Chinese tourists spent 1 to 2 weeks in the overseas trip and the time spent on shopping activities ranges from 6 to 10 hours or 11 to 20 hours. As for the primary products purchased, apparel/shoes/handbags appears to Mainland Chinese tourists' favorite choice, followed by jewelry/accessories, souvenirs, and cosmetics/beauty care. In addition, the majority of the respondents are found to shop with their family, friends and relatives during their overseas trips. As for the allocation of shopping expenditure for others, Chinese tourist spend a large portion, namely about four fifths of the expenditure, on buying gifts for family, friends and



relatives. In the meantime, a small portion is spent on the favor of buying on other's behalf and bringing the goods back to China.

5.1.2 Behavioral beliefs, Outcome evaluation and Attitude

Fourteen behavioral beliefs statements are factor analyzed to reduce the dimension of the initial set of items. Three factors are extracted from behavioral beliefs scale. The three factors are 'Product and store attributes', 'Price' and 'Travel-related benefits'. 'Product and store attributes' represent the largest percentage of variance explained (29.3%), indicating that Chinese tourists hold strong beliefs on certain characteristics of product and shopping environment in the overseas destination, such as product trustworthiness, high product quality and hospitable service in the store. The second dimension, price, explains about 19 percent of the total variance, demonstrating that Chinese tourists also believe shopping during overseas trips can let them enjoy the comparatively low price. Outcome evaluation asks the importance of each behavioral belief to the respondents. With the purpose to keep the group of items consistent with these in behavioral beliefs, three factors are grouped manually following the factor analysis result of behavioral beliefs.

The interaction effect between each behavioral belief factor and each outcome evaluation factor is tested using two-way ANOVA. A non-significant F value indicates that there is no statistically significant interaction between behavioral beliefs and outcome evaluation with respect to the dependent variable, attitude. Therefore, the interaction effect is excluded from the set of predictors of attitude in the following multiple regression analysis. The multiple regression analysis in predicting attitude shows that among the six predictors, namely three behavioral belief factors and three outcome



evaluation factors, only behavioral beliefs of "product and store attributes" and outcome evaluation of "product and store attributes" are significant in predicting attitude. Therefore, perceptions and evaluations of "product and store attributes" are the most and solely important factors to predict respondents' attitude toward overseas tourism shopping.

The regression equation is 'Attitude = $1.794 + 0.205[\hat{a}1]$ bbFactor1 + 0.366[$\hat{a}4$] oeFactor1', demonstrating for each single unit increase in behavioral belief of product and store attributes, there will be 0.205 unit increase in attitude; for each single unit increase in outcome evaluation of product and store attributes, there will be 0.366 unit increase in attitude. The result shows that the higher rating Chinese tourists place on certain characteristics of product and store attributes, the more positive attitude they have toward shopping during overseas trips. Additionally, the more important Chinese tourists place tourists place tourists place on certain characteristics of product and store attributes, the more positive attitude they have toward shopping during overseas trips. Additionally, the more important Chinese tourists perceived on certain characteristics of product and store attributes the more positive attitude they have toward shopping during overseas trips.

5.1.3 Normative beliefs, Motivation to comply and Subjective norms

Normative beliefs and motivation to comply are both measured using five reference groups, my family, my friends and relatives, my co-workers, my travel agent, and my travel group fellows. Normative belief asks what the respondent's reference group would think about on certain behavior whereas motivation to comply asks about the respondent's likelihood of complying with what the reference groups think he/she should do. Three subjective norms items are factor analyzed and a one-dimensional factor is extracted with a reliability value (Cronbach's alpha) of 0.737, explaining 65.6% of the total variance.



The interaction effect between each normative belief item and the corresponding motivation to comply item is tested using two-way ANOVA. The result indicate the first set of items, 'my family think I should shop during the overseas trip' and 'how likely are you to listen to your family', does not reveal a significant interaction effect. The rest of each normative belief and motivation to comply statement all represents significant interaction effects. Therefore, 14 independent variables are entered for the following multiple regression analysis in predicting subjective norms, namely 5 normative items, 5 motivation to comply items and 4 interaction items. The multiple regression analysis shows that among the 14 predictors, only three items have significant *p* values. Specifically, normative beliefs of my co-workers, motivation to comply of my co-workers and the interaction effect between them are statistically significant in predicting subjective norms.

The regression equation is described as: Subjective Norms = 1.886 + 0.904[â4] NB my co-workers + 1.101[â9] MC my co-workers – 1.312[â13] NB my co-workers * MC my co-workers. It indicates that for each single unit increase in normative belief of co-workers toward shopping during overseas trips, the influence of subjective norms on shopping during overseas trips will increase 0.904 units. Also, for each single unit increase in motivation to comply what my co-workers think toward shopping during overseas trip, the influence of subjective norms will increase 1.101 units. The interaction effect shows a negative correlation with the dependent variable subjective norms. This result indicates that on different levels of motivation to comply (moderating variable), the function/strength of the correlation between respondents' normative belief of co-workers and their subjective norms changes.



To explain the results more specifically, the results demonstrate that respondents' subjective norms on overseas shopping are significantly influenced by their co-workers' opinion. At the same time, respondents' subjective norms on overseas shopping are significantly influenced by their likelihood to comply with their co-workers' opinion. Furthermore, depending on how much the respondents are likely to comply with their co-workers, their subjective norms on overseas shopping will be influenced by their co-workers' opinion at different levels and strength. If the respondents are more likely to comply, the correlation between their normative belief and subjective norm on overseas shopping will be strong; whereas if the respondents are less likely to comply, the correlation workers.

5.1.4 Control beliefs, Power of control beliefs and Perceived behavioral control

Control beliefs and power of the corresponding control beliefs are both factor analyzed to reduce the dimension of the items. The results produce a one-dimensional factor for control beliefs (4 items) and on-dimension factor for power of control beliefs (5 items). The factor of control beliefs is summarized as overseas shopping constraints and the factor of power is refer to power of controlling overseas shopping constraints. The factor of control beliefs has a reliability value (Cronbach's alpha) of 0.738 and explains 56.2% of the total variance. The factor of power has a reliability value (Cronbach's alpha) of 0.805 and explains 56.6% of the total variance. In addition, perceived behavioral control is also factor analyzed and the result shows a uni-dimensional factor detected for the scale of perceived behavioral control (3 items). The factor 'perceived control on overseas shopping' has a reliability value (Cronbach's alpha) of 0.805 and explains 68.6% of the total variance. Three variables, namely, the factor of control beliefs, the



factor of power of control beliefs, and the interaction between control beliefs and power are entered for the following multiple regression analysis. The result shows control beliefs of shopping constraints, power of controlling shopping constraints are negatively predicting perceived behavioral control. However, the interaction between control beliefs and power positively predicts perceived behavioral control. Specifically, the regression equation is PBC = $6.63 - 1.31[\beta_1]$ CB - $0.76[\beta_2]$ Power + $1.90[\beta_3]$ CB*Power, indicating that for each sing-unit increase in beliefs about shopping constraints, perceived behavioral control will decrease 1.31 units; for each one unit increase in power of controlling shopping constraints, perceived behavioral control will decrease 0.76 units; for each sing-unit increase in the interaction of control beliefs and power, perceived behavioral control will increase 1.90 units. The statistical results demonstrate that the stronger beliefs about overseas shopping constraints that Chinese tourists hold, the less control they obtain to freely and smoothly shop during overseas trips. The more perceived influence of shopping constraints among Chinese tourists, in other words, the less power they have to control shopping constraints, the less control they have to freely shop during overseas trips. The interaction effect between control beliefs and perceived behavioral control exerted a positive influence on perceived behavioral control, indicating that depending on the perceived power over shopping constraints, the correlation or influence of respondents' control beliefs on their perceived behavioral control on overseas shopping are different. In other words, if respondents have more power in controlling possible shopping constraints, the negative effects of control beliefs will be deteriorated.

5.1.5 Attitude, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control and intention



Attitude is measured by six attitudinal items, namely, 'Pleasant', 'Enjoyable', 'Important', 'Worthwhile', 'Satisfying' and 'Rewarding'. The scores of the six items are added and averaged to be used as respondent's average attitude score. Subjective norms are measured by three items. The three subjective norms items are factor analyzed and extracted into one factor with a reliability value (Cronbach's alpha) of 0.737 and a percent of total variance explained of 65.6%. Perceived behavioral control is also factor analyzed, producing on-dimensional factor (3 items) with a reliability value (Cronbach's alpha) of 0.805 and explains 68.6% of total variance. Intention is measured by four statements to ask respondents' willingness to shop during their future overseas trips. The four statements are also factor analyzed to reduce the dimension. A uni-dimensional factor labeled 'shopping intentions during future overseas trips' is extracted with a reliability value of 0.722 and a percent of total variance explained of 54.8%.

A multiple regression is performed to see how well the dependent variable, 'shopping intentions during future overseas trips' is predicted by the independent variables, attitude, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control. The result shows that attitude and subjective norms are statistically significant in predicting shopping intentions, whereas perceived behavioral control is not statistically significant in predicting shopping intentions during future overseas trips. The regression is described as: Intention = $1.69 + 0.19[\beta_1]$ Attitudes + $0.34[\beta_2]$ SN, indicating for each single unit increase in attitude, there will be 0.19 units increase in shopping intention; for each single unit increase in the influence of subjective norms, there will be 0.34 units increase in shopping intention. The result of the multiple regression in predicting intention demonstrate that for Chinese tourists, the more positive attitude they hold about shopping during overseas trips, the



higher intentions they have on shopping again during future overseas trips. Meanwhile, Chinese tourists have higher intentions to shop again during future overseas trips if they are more influenced by their reference groups on the matter of shopping during overseas trips. However, Chinese tourists perceived control on some possible overseas shopping constraints such as limited payment methods, mandatory shopping trips and limited time for shopping does not significantly influence their intentions to shop again during future overseas trips. In other words, although Chinese tourists may perceive some shopping constraints during their overseas shopping experience, such constraints do not affect their willingness to shop again. The future shopping intention is primarily influenced by their attitudes towards overseas shopping and the social perceptions of people around them on overseas shopping.

5.2 CONCLUSION

This study investigated the applicability of the Theory of Planned Behavior (Ajzen, 1988, 1991) in a Chinese outbound tourist shopping setting. Specifically, the study applied the TPB to explore factors influencing long-haul Chinese outbound tourists shopping intention. The study identified relationship among various components of TPB among long-haul Chinese outbound tourists who had shopping experience during their overseas trips before.

Overall, the study examined the relationship between attitude toward shopping during overseas trip, the influence of subjective norms on overseas tourism shopping, perceived behavioral control on the possible shopping constraints during overseas trip, and intention to shop during future overseas trips. The TPB model explained Chinese tourists' shopping intention during future overseas trips moderately well. Attitude,



subjective norms were found to be significant factors to influence the intention of shopping during future overseas trips. Congruent with this, multiple regression analysis indicated that the influence of subjective norms on intention was stronger than that of attitude. Although past studies have suggested that perceived behavioral control should be included to the theory of a planned behavior model in predicting intention and behavior (Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Sparks, 2007; Sparks & pan, 2009; Quintal et al., 2010), no significant predicting power has been found in the setting of predicting long-haul Chinese outbound tourists' shopping intentions.

Particularly, 'product and store attributes' was the behavioral beliefs and important outcome evaluations that attributed to the forming of attitude, and attitude can have an positive impact on long-haul outbound Chinese tourists' intentions to shop during future overseas trips.

Normative beliefs of Chinese tourists' co-workers, their motivation to comply with their co-workers on the matter of overseas tourism shopping, and the interaction effect between the normative beliefs of co-workers and motivation to comply with coworkers together influence the subjective norms on Chinese tourists' overseas tourism shopping. This finding indicated that co-workers are the most important reference group in building Chinese tourists' social identities regarding shopping during overseas trips. Co-workers' opinions and Chinese tourists' willingness to comply with what their coworkers think positively influence Chinese tourists' subjective norms, namely, what people around them would think they should do concerning overseas tourism shopping. In addition, being moderated by how much the respondents are likely to comply with their co-workers, Chinese tourists' subjective norms on overseas shopping will be



influenced by their co-workers' opinion at different levels and strength. If the respondents are more likely to comply, the correlation between their normative belief and subjective norm on overseas shopping will be strong; whereas if the respondents are less likely to comply, the correlation will be weak.

Furthermore, control beliefs of possible shopping constraints, power in controlling these constraints, and the interaction of control beliefs and power together predict perceived behavioral control on shopping during overseas trips. The result reveals that Chinese tourists' perceived behavioral control on shopping during overseas trips are influenced by their control beliefs in shopping constraints and power over such constraints. However, if Chinese tourists have more power in controlling possible shopping constraints, the negative predicting effects of control beliefs will be deteriorated.

5.3 IMPLICATIONS

5.3.1 Academic implications

This study partially proved the applicability of the Theory of Planned Behavior in predicting long-haul outbound Chinese tourists shopping intentions. Particularly, Attitude towards shopping during overseas trips and subjective norms on shopping during overseas trips are positively predicting shopping intention during overseas trips. Behavioral beliefs of product and store attributes, and outcome evaluation of product and store attributes positively influence attitude, and attitude can have a positive impact on shopping intentions. Normative beliefs of co-workers and motivation to comply with coworkers on overseas tourism shopping positively affect subjective norms. Specifically, the effect of motivation to comply with co-workers moderates the positive predicting relationship between normative beliefs and subjective norms. Together, normative beliefs,



motivation to comply and the interaction between them predict the influence of subjective norms. Although perceived behavioral control on possible shopping constraints was not found to predict shopping intention, control beliefs, power of control beliefs and the interaction between them together influence perceived behavioral control on shopping constraints. Specifically, control beliefs of shopping constraints negatively related to perceived behavioral control, whereas power of controlling such constraints positively predicts perceived behavioral control. The negative relationship between control beliefs and perceived behavioral control is moderated by the power of controlling shopping constraints.

Therefore, by applying and testing the applicability of the TPB in both the tourism shopping and the Chinese outbound tourism settings, the study extend the usability of the TPB in predicting tourist shopping intentions, tourist shopping intentions during longhaul, international trips, Chinese tourist shopping intention and long-haul outbound Chinese tourist shopping intention. To date, the Theory of Planned Behavior has been applied in tourism (Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Sparks, 2007; Sparks & pan, 2009; Quintal et al., 2010), retailing (Cannière et al., 2009) and the Chinese consumer behavior setting (Bagozzi et al., 2001; Chan & Lau, 2001; Lam & Hsu, 2004, 2006; Simth et al., 2009; Sparks & Pan, 2009), but there is scarce application of the TPB in tourism shopping and especially Chinese tourist shopping intention. Thus, the study broadens the TPB literature in the above areas provides empirical findings for future TPB research in the related areas.

On the other hand, there's rising interest in investing Chinese tourist shopping behaviors in the academic area (e.g. Mok & lam, 1997; Heung & Cheng, 2000; Wong & Law, 2002; Lehto et al., 2004; Hsieh & Chang, 2006; Chang & Yang, 2006; Lin & Lin,



2006; Mok & Defranco, 2008; Xu & McGehee, 2012). Particularly, Chinese outbound tourists shopping behavior has been paid increasing attention (Xu & McGehee, 2012; Lin & Lin, 2006). This study investigated the factors that influencing long-haul outbound Chinese tourists shopping intentions. Important factors such as behavioral beliefs of product and store attributes, attitude toward overseas shopping, normative beliefs of coworkers on overseas shopping and subjective norms are found to be significantly related to long-haul outbound Chinese tourists' shopping intentions. To date, almost none research has been particularly examined the reasons that drive long-haul outbound Chinese tourists spend greatly on shopping during their overseas trips. This study provides possible explanations for this emerging phenomenon by empirically test some factors influencing Chinese tourists' shopping intentions using a sound and widely used theoretical foundation.

5.3.2 Practical implications

Based the findings of the study, a number of salient practical implications can be derived. First, beliefs of 'product and store attributes' as well as outcome evaluations of 'product and store attributes together attribute to the form of attitude, and attitude then impact on Chinese tourists' shopping intention during future overseas trips. Chinese tourists want to shop again in their future long-haul outbound trips because they believe that products sold in overseas destination possess certain attributes, such as 'product trustworthiness', 'high product quality', 'genuine branded goods, and 'fashion and novelty'. Destination retailers can therefore target the Chinese tourists market by promoting physical characteristics of products and advertising on the perspective of



superior product features such as quality assurance, excellent workmanship, brand of origin and beautiful design.

Meanwhile, Chinese tourists also believes certain store attributes in the overseas destinations, such as 'hospitable services', 'good store environment' and 'access to world-known brands', these beliefs positively influence their attitude towards overseas shopping and in turn, affect their shopping intentions during future overseas trips. Consequently, destination retailers should improve in-store service to better cater Chinese tourists' shopping needs. For example, mandarin speaking sales can be placed in store to assist Chinese tourists selecting products. Retailers should also create enjoyable store environment using elements such lighting, music and aroma to attract Chinese tourists. To satisfy Chinese shoppers, it is suggested to provide a friendly, welcoming shopping environment. Chinese shoppers, especially female, like to communicate with sales assistants and learn more details on the commodities before making the final purchase decision. Additionally, stores could emphasize the image of brand-collection shops to meet Chinese tourists' beliefs that overseas shopping could bring them access to world-known brands.

Second, normative beliefs of Chinese tourists' co-workers regarding the matter of shopping during overseas trips, motivation to comply with what co-workers think and the interaction between normative beliefs and motivation to comply together predict the influence of subjective norms among Chinese tourists on shopping during overseas trips. Unlike westerners, Chinese people value co-workers' opinion greatly and follow what coworkers think, as co-workers are an important group in building Chinese people' social identity. In this study, Chinese tourists' co-workers opinion about shopping during



overseas trips significantly attributed to the forming of subjective norms, and subjective norms in turn predict shopping intentions during future overseas trips. Therefore, destination retailers should be aware of this particular reference group when targeting Chinese tourists market. Correspondingly, store or product promotions can involve the ideas of building workplace image, favorite product or brand among co-workers, or referring bonus programs among co-workers, etc. In addition, sales persons in the front line should also be aware of the importance of co-workers' opinions among Chinese tourists and promote personally from the perspective of what the customer's co-worker would think if he/she purchase the products.

Third, perceived behavioral control does not significantly influence Chinese tourists' shopping intentions. This means that though there are shopping constraints among Chinese tourists during their overseas trip, such constraint would not affect their willingness to shop again in future overseas trips. However, certain control beliefs of shopping constraints, power of controlling such constraints, and the interaction effect between control beliefs and power do influence Chinese tourists' perceived behavioral control on shopping during overseas trips. Specially, shopping constraints include limited payment methods, mandatory shopping arranged by travel agents, limited time for shopping, and incontinent transportation for shopping. Consequently, it is recommended that the destination retailers should work with both local banks and banks in China to improve the smoothness of payment so that tourists can fully enjoy the shopping experience. Besides, tour operators in the overseas destination should make the itineraries more relaxed and arrange more convenient transportation methods so that tourists can shop freely with enough time and easy transportation. Meanwhile, any commission



format, forcing shopping should be resisted by regulated industry rules to ensure that tourists can shop voluntarily during their overseas trips.

5.4 LIMITATION AND RECOMMENDATION

One limitation of the study is that the sampling frame only covered three major cities in China, and the sample size is only 300. Although data collection fieldwork has been carefully designed and carried out to include a variety of respondents in terms of age, gender, travel experience, and other demographic characteristics, the population from which the sample was drawn might not be totally representative of the general Chinese overseas travel population. Therefore, the results may not be generalized to all Chinese tourist shoppers.

Future studies should include a larger sample size with greater geographic representations of China's regions. Data can also be collected with regards to particular overseas destination retailers to examine actual tourist shoppers' decision-making process. In addition, this study solely applies TPB model to explain tourist shopping behavior in overseas trip; attitude and subjective norms explained about 55% of the variance of respondents' shopping intention, indicating other factors not included in this study may also influence Chinese tourists' shopping intentions. In the future research, a broader variety of factors should be considered and integrated into the model in predicting the Chinese tourists' shopping intention more comprehensively. Additional variables that may be investigated include Chinese cultural values, personal shopping values, past shopping experience, and satisfaction with the overseas trip. Especially, gift shopping values along with Chinese cultural values could be incorporated into further extended model in the future.



REFERENCE

- Ackerman, D., & Tellis, G. Can culture affect prices? A cross-cultural study of shopping and retail prices. *Journal of Retailing*, 77(1), 57-82.
- Ajzen, I. (1985). From intentions to actions: A theory of planned behavior. In: J. Kuhl & J. Beckmann (Eds.), *Action-control: From cognition to behavior*, 11-39. Heidelberg: Springer.
- Ajzen, I. (1987). Attitudes, traits, and actions: Dispositional prediction of behavior in personality and social psychology. In: L. Berkowitz (Ed.), Advances in experimental social psychology, 20, 1-63. New York: Academic Press.
- Ajzen, I. (1988). Attitudes, Personality, and Behavior. Chicago: Dorsey Press.
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Decision Process*, 50, 179-211.
- Ajzen, I. (2002). Construction of a standard questionnaire for the theory of planned behavior. Retrieved on November 3, 2012 from http://people.umass.edu/~aizen/tpb.html.
- Ajzen, I. (2006). Construction of a standard questionnaire for the theory of planned behavior. Retrieved on November 3, 2012 from <u>http://people.umass.edu/~aizen/tpb.html</u>.
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). Understanding Attitudes and Predicting Social Behavior. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Ajzen, I., & Madden, T. J. (1986). Prediction of goal-directed behavior: Attitudes, intentions and perceived behavioral control. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 22(5), 453-474.
- Anderson, L. F., & Littrell, M. A. (1995). Souvenir-purchase behavior of women tourists. Annals of Tourism Research, 22(2), 328–348.
- Armitage, C. J., & Conner, M. (2001). Efficacy of the theory of planned behaviour: A meta-analytic review. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 40(4), 471-499.
- Australia Government Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism, Tourism. (2011). Publications, Snapshots and Factsheets 2011. China Inbound and Outbound Travel. Retrieved October 8, 2012 from



http://www.ret.gov.au/tourism/Documents/tra/Snapshots%20and%20Factsheets/2 011/China-Snapshot-July%202011.pdf

- Babin, B. J., Darden, W. R., & Griffin, M. (1994). Work and/or fun: Measuring hedonic and utilitarian shopping value author. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 20(4), 644-656.
- Babin, B. J., & Darden, W. R. (1995). Consumer self-regulation in a retail environment. *Journal of Retailing*, 71(1), 47–70.
- Babin, B. J., Gonzalez, C., & Watts, C. (2007). Does Santa have a great job? Gift shopping value and satisfaction. *Psychology and Marketing*, 24(10), 895-917.
- Bagozzi, R. P., Lee, H., & Van Loo, M. F. (2001). Decisions to donate bone marrow: The role of attitudes and subjective norms across cultures. *Psychology and Health*, 16(1), 29–56.
- Batra, R., & Ahtola, O. T. (1991). Measuring the hedonic and utilitarian sources of consumer attitudes. *Marketing Letters*, 2(2), 159-170.
- Bean, A. G., & Roszkowski, M. J. (1995). The long and short of It: When does questionnaire length affect response rate. *Marketing Research*, *7*, 21-26.
- Belk, R. W. (1979). Gift Giving Behavior. In: Research in Marketing, Vol. 2, ed. Jagdish Sheth, Greenwich, CT: JAI, 95-126.
- Belk, R. W. (1987). A child's Christmas in America: Santa Claus as deity, consumption as religion. Journal of American Culture, *10*(1), 87-100.
- Belk, R. W. (1988). Possessions and the extended self. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *15*(2), 139–168.
- Belk, R. W., & Coon, G. (1993). Gift giving as agapic love: An alternative to the exchange paradigm based on dating experiences. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 20(3), 393–417.
- Bendig, A. W. (1953). The reliability of self-ratings as a function of the amount of verbal anchoring and of the number of categories on a scale. Journal of Applied Psychology, 37 (1), 38-41.
- Bendig, A. W. (1954). Reliability and the number of rating categories. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *38*(1), 38-40.
- Bitner, M. J. (1990). Evaluating service encounter: The effects of physical surroundings and employee responses. *Journal of Marketing*, 54(2), 69–82.
- Bloch, P. H., & Richins, M. L. (1983). A theoretical model for the study of product importance perceptions. *Journal of Marketing*, 47(3), 69-81.



- Blotch, P. H., Sherrell, D. L., & Ridgway, N. M. (1986). Consumer search: An extended framework. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *13*(1), 119-126.
- Bond, M.H., & Lee, P.W.H. (1981). Face-saving in Chinese culture: A discussion and experimental study of Hong Kong students. In: A.Y.C. King and R.P.L. Lees (Eds.), *Social Life and Development in Hong Kong*. Hong Kong: The Chinese University Press, 288-305.
- Borges, A., Chebat, J. C., & Babin, B. J. (2010). Does a companion always enhance the shopping experience?. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer*, 17(4), 294-299.
- Brunner, J. A., Chan, J., Sun, C., & Zhou, N. (1989). The role of Guanxi in negotiation in the Pacific basin. *Journal of Global Marketing*, *3*(2), 7-23.
- Bruwer, J., & Alant, K. (2009). The hedonic nature of wine tourism consumption: an experiential view. *International Journal of Wine Business Research*, 21(3), 235 257.
- Cai, L. A., Lehto, X. Y., & O'Leary, J. (2001). Profiling the US-bound Chinese travelers by purpose of trip. *Journal of Hospitality and Leisure Marketing*, 7(4), 3-16.
- Canadian Tourism Commission (CTC). (2007). Consumer Research in China. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Tourism Organization. Retrieved October 3, 2012 from <u>http://www.corporate.canada.travel/docs/research_and_statistics/market_knowled</u> <u>ge/AsiaPacific/Final_Consumer_V2_2007.pdf</u>.
- Caplow, T. (1982). Christmas gifts and kin networks. *American Sociological Review*, 47(3), 383-392.
- Caplow, T. (1984). Rule enforcement without visible means: Christmas gift giving in Middletown. *American Journal of Sociology*, 89(6), 1306-1323.
- Champion, D. J., & Sear, A. M. (1969). Questionnaire response rate: A methodological analysis. *Social Forces*, 47(3), 335-339.
- Chan, R., & Lau, L. (2002). Explaining green purchase behavior: A cross-cultural study on American and Chinese consumers. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 14(2/3), 9-40.
- Chan, R. Y. K. (2001). Determinants of Chinese consumers' green purchase behavior. Psychology and Marketing, 18(4), 389-413.
- Chang, J., Yang, B., & Yu, C. (2006). The moderating effect of salespersons' selling behavior on shopping motivation and satisfaction: Taiwan tourists in China. *Tourism Management*, 27(5), 934-942.



- Chang, M. K. (1998). Predicting unethical behavior: a comparison of the theory of reasoned action and the theory of planned behavior. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 17(6), 1852-1834.
- Cheung, F. M., Leung, K., Zhang, J. X., Sun, H. F., Gan, Y. G., Song, W. Z., & Xie, D. (2001). Indigenous Chinese personality constructs: Is the five-factor model complete? *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 32(4), 407-433.
- Cicchetti, D. V., Showalter, D., & Tyrer, P. J. (1985). The effect of number of rating scale categories on levels of inter-rater reliability: a Monte-Carlo investigation. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, *9*(1), 31-36.
- Childers, T. L., Carr, C. L., Peck, J., & Carson, S. (2001). Hedonic and utilitarian motivations for online retail shopping behavior. *Journal of Retailing*, 77(4), 511-535.
- China Outbound Tourism Research Institute (COTRI). (2011). Press Release, China Soaring Towards New Tourism Records: More than 2 billion domestic and over 50 million outbound travelers in the first nine months of 2011. Retrieved October 4, 2012 from <u>http://www.china-</u> outbound.com/images/stories/PressRelease COTRI 241011.pdf
- Choi, T., Liu, S., Pang, K., & Chow, P. (2008). Shopping behaviors of individual tourists from the Chinese Mainland to Hong Kong. *Tourism Management*, 29(4), 811-820.
- Choi, W. M., Chan, A., & Wu, J. (1999). A qualitative and quantitative assessment of Hong Kong's image as a tourist destination. *Tourism Management*, 20(3), 361– 365.
- Chow, I., & Murphy, P. (2008). Travel Activity Preferences of Chinese Outbound Tourists for Overseas Destinations. *Journal of Hospitality and Leisure Marketing*, *16*(1/2), 61-80.
- Chow, I., & Murphy, P. (2011). Predicting Intended and Actual Travel Behaviors: An Examination of Chinese Outbound Tourists to Australia. *Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing*, 28(3), 318-330.
- Chowdhury, J., Reardin, J., & Srivastara, R. (1998). Alternative modes of measuring store image: an empirical assessment of structural versus unstructured measures. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, (6)2, 72–86.
- Cohen, E. (1995). Touristic craft ribbon development in Thailand. *Tourism Management*, *16*(3), 225–235.
- Cook, A. J., Kerr, G. N., & Moore, K. (2002). Attitudes and intentions towards purchasing GM food. Journal of Economic Psychology, 23(5), 557-572.



- Cooner, M., Norman, P., & Bell, R. (2002). The theory of planned behavior and healthy eating. *Health Psychology*, *21*(2), 194-201.
- Conner, M., & Sparks, P. (1996). The theory of planned behavior and health behaviors.In: M. Conner & P. Norman (Eds.), *Predicting Health Behavior*, 121 162.Buckingham, UK: Open University Press.
- Costello, C. A., & Fairhurst, A. (2002). Purchasing behavior of tourists towards Tennessee-made products. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, 3(3), 7-17.
- Cox III, E. P. (1980). The optimal number of response alternatives for a scale: A review. Journal of Marketing Research, 17(4), 407-422.
- Dawes, J. (2008). Do Data Characteristics Change According to the Number of Scale Points Used? An Experiment Using 5 Point, 7 Point and 10 Point Scales. *International Journal of Market Research*, 51(1), 1-19.
- Dawis, R. V. (1987). Scale construction. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 34(4), 481-489.
- Dawson, S., Bloch, P. H., & Ridgway, N. M. (1990). Shopping motives, emotional states, and retail outcomes. *Journal of Retailing*, 66(4): 408-427.
- DeCannière, M. H., DePelsmacker, P., & Geuens, M. (2009). Relationship quality and the theory of planned behavior models of behavioral intentions and purchase behavior. *Journal of Business Research*, 62(1), 82-92.
- Dickman, S. (1989). *Tourism, as an Introductory Text*. Rydalmere: Edward Arnold Australia.
- Dillman, D. A. (1978). *Mail and telephone surveys: The total design method*. New York: Wiley-Interscience.
- Dillman, D. A. (1991). The design and administration of mail surveys. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *17*, 225-249.
- Dillman, D. A., Reynolds, R. W., & Rockwood, T. H. (1991). Focus group tests of two simplified decennial census forms. *Technical Report 91-39*. Washington State University, Social and Economic Sciences Research Center, Pullman.
- Dimanche, F. (2003). The louisiana tax free shopping program for international visitors: a case study. Journal of Travel Research, 41(2), 311-314.
- Di Matteo, L., & Di Matteo, R. (1996). An analysis of Canadian cross-border travel. Annals of Tourism Research, 23(1), 103-122.



- Doctoroff, T. (2005). *Billions: Selling to the new Chinese consumer*. New York, N.Y.: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Doyle, P., & Fenwick, I. (1974). Shopping habits in grocery chains. *Journal of Retailing*, 50(4), 39-52.
- Dube, L., Chebat, J., & Morin, S. (1995). The effects of background music on consumers' desire to affiliate in buyer seller interactions. *Psychology and Marketing*, 12(4), 305-315.
- Engel, J. F., Blackwell, R. D., & Miniard, P. W. (1993). Consumer Behavior. Chicago: Dryden.
- European Travel Commission (ETC). (2012). Market Intelligence/Reports-Studies-Trends, Reports & Studies. European tourism 2012: Trends & Prospects Q2/2012. Retrieved October 4, 2012 from <u>http://www.etccorporate.org/resources/uploads/ETC%20July%202012%20Trends</u> <u>%20and%20Outlook_final_p14fix.pdf</u>
- European Travel Commission (ETC). (2011). Market Intelligence/Reports-Studies-Trends, Reports & Studies. European Tourism Insights 2009-10. Retrieved October 4, 2012 from
- European Travel Commission (ETC). (2011). Market Intelligence/Reports-Studies-Trends, Market Insights. China. Retrieved from <u>http://www.etc-</u> <u>corporate.org/market-intelligence/market-insights.html</u>
- Everett, J., Stening, B., & McDonald, G. (1987). Hong Kong workers' attitudes in crosscultural perspective. Hong Kong Manager, May, 44-49.
- Fischer, E., & Arnold, S. J. (1990). More than a labor of love: Gender roles and Christmas shopping. Journal of Consumer Research, *17*(3), 333-345.
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). *Belief, Attitude, Intention, and Behavior: An Introduction to Theory and Research*. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Gee, C.Y., (1987). Travel related shopping and financial services. In: *The Travel Industry*, 422-456.
- George, J. F. (2004). The theory of planned behavior and Internet purchasing. *Internet Research*, *14*(3), 198-212.
- Getz, D. (1993). Tourist shopping villages: Development and planning strategies. *Tourism Management*, 14(1), 15-26.
- Geuens, M., Vantomme, D., & Brengman, M. (2004). Developing a typology of airport shoppers. Tourism Management, *25*(5), 615–622.



- Gordon, B. (1986). The souvenir: Messages of the extraordinary. *Journal of Popular Culture*, 20(3): 135-146.
- Guo, Y., Seongseop, K., & Timothy, D. J. (2007). Development characteristics and implications of Mainland Chinese outbound tourism. Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research, 12(4), 313–332.
- Gu, F. F., Hung, K., & Tse, D. K. (2008). When does guanxi matter? Issues of capitalization and its dark sides. *Journal of Marketing*, 72, 12-28.
- Gu, H., & Ryan, C. (2008). Place attachment, identity and community impacts of tourism—the case of a Beijing hutong. *Tourism Management*, 29(4), 637-647.
- Han, H., Hsu, L. T. J., & Sheu, C. (2010). Application of the theory of planned behavior to green hotel choice: Testing the effect of environmental friendly activities. *Tourism Management*, 31(3), 325-334.
- Han, H., & Kim, Y. (2010). An investigation of green hotel customers' decision formation: Developing an extended model of the theory of planned behavior. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 29(4), 659-668.
- Hansen, T. (2008). Consumer values, the theory of planned behavior and online grocery shopping. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, *32*(2), 128-137.
- Hansen, T., & Jensen, J. M., & Solgaard, H. S. (2004). Predicting online grocery buying intention: a comparison of the theory of reasoned action and the theory of planned behavior. *International Journal of Information Management*, 24(6), 539-550.
- Heung, V., & Cheng, E. (2000). Assessing tourists' satisfaction with shopping in the Hong Kong special administrative region of China. *Journal of Travel Research*, 38(4), 396-404.
- Heung, V., & Qu, H. (1998). Tourism shopping and its contributions to Hong Kong. *Tourism Management*, 19(4), 383-386.
- Hirschman, E. C. (1983). Predictors of self-projection, fantasy fulfillment, and escapism. *Journal of Social Psychology*, *120*(1), 63-76.
- Hirschman, E. C., & Holbrook, M. B. (1982). Hedonic Consumption: Emerging Concepts, Methods and Propositions. *Journal of Marketing*, *46*(3), 92-101.
- Hsieh, A., & Chang, J. (2006). Shopping and tourist night markets in taiwan. *Tourism Management*, 27(1), 138-145.
- Hsu, F. L. K. (1972). *Americans and Chinese*. New York: Doubleday Natural History Press.



- Hsu, M. H., Yen, C. H., Chiu, C. M., & Chang, C. M. (2006). A longitudinal investigation of continued online shopping behavior: An extension of the theory of planned behavior. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 64(9), 889-904.
- Hobson, J. S. P. (2000). Tourist shopping in transit: The case of BAA plc. *Journal of Vacation* Marketing, *6*(2), 170-183.
- Hobson, J. S. P., & Christensen, M. (2001). Cultural and structural issues affecting Japanese tourist shopping behavior. Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research, 6(1), 37-45.
- Hofstede, G. (1980). *Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-related Values*. Beverley Hills, CA: Sage.
- Hofstede, G. (1991). *Cultures and organizations: software of the mind*. London: McGraw- Hill UK.
- Hofstede, G., & Bond, M. H. (1988). The Confucius connection: From cultural roots to economic growth. *Organizational Dynamics*, *16*(4), 4-21.
- Hofstede, G., & Bond, M. H. (1984). Hofstede's culture dimensions an independent validation using rokeach's value survey. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *15*(4), 417-433.
- Holbrook, M.B., & Hirschman, E.C. (1982). The experiential aspects of consumption: Consumer fantasies, feelings, and fun. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 9(2), 132– 140.
- Horne, L., & Winakor, G. (1991). A conceptual framework for the gift-giving process: Implications for clothing. Clothing and Textiles Research Journal, 9(4), 23–33.
- Horne, L., & Winakor, G. (1995). Giving gifts of clothing: Risk perceptions of husbands and wives. *Clothing and Textiles Research Journal*, *13*(2), 92–101.
- Hrubes, D., Ajzen, I., & Daigle, J. (2001). Predicting hunting intentions and behavior: An application of the theory of planned behavior. *Leisure Sciences*, 23(3), 165–178.
- Hsu, J. (1985). The Chinese family: Relations, problems and therapy. In: Tseng, W. & Wu, D. Y. H. (Eds.), Chinese culture and mental health, 95-112. Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Hu, H. C. (1944). The Chinese concepts of "face". *American Anthropologist*, 46(1), 45-64.
- Huang, Q., Andrulis, R.S., & Chen, T. (1994). A guide to successful business relations with the Chinese. New York: International Business Press.



- Huang, S., & Hsu, C. H. C. (2005). Mainland Chinese residents' perceptions and motivations of visiting Hong Kong: Evidence from focus group interviews. Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research, 10(2), 191-205.
- Huang, S., & Hsu, C. H. C. (2009). Effects of travel motivation, past experience, perceived constraint, and attitude on revisit intention. Journal of Travel Research, 48(1), 29-44.
- Hwang, K. (1983). Business organizational patterns and employee's working morale in Taiwan. *Academic Sinica*, 56, 145-193.
- Hwang, K. (1987). Face and favor: The Chinese power game. *American Journal of Sociology*, 92(4), 944-974.
- ITTA (2011). U.S. Commerce department forecasts growth in international travel to the United States through 2016. Retrieved December 13th from http://tinet.ita.doc.gov/view/f-2000-99-001/forecast/Forecast-Summary.pdf
- Jansen-Verbeke, M. (1991). Leisure shopping: A magic concept for the tourism industry? *Tourism Management*, 12(1), 9-14.
- Jansen-Verbeke, M. (1994). The synergy between shopping and tourism: The Japanese experience. In W. F. Theobald (Ed.), *Global tourism: The next decade*. Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Jones, M. A. (1999). Entertaining shopping experiences: An exploratory investigation. Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 6(3), 129–139
- Jones, M. A., Reynolds, K. E., & Arnold, M. J. (2006). Hedonic and utilitarian shopping value: Investigating differential effects on retail outcomes. *Journal of Business Research*, 59(9), 974-981.
- Joy, A. (2001). Gift giving in Hong Kong and the continuum of social ties. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 28(2), 239–56.
- Ju, Y. (1995). Communicating change in China. In: Cushman, D.P., & King, S.S. (Eds), Communicating Organizational Change: A Management Perspective. Albany, NY: New York State University, 227-49.
- Kahle, L. R., Beatty, S. E., & Homer, P. (1986). Alternative measurement approaches to consumer values: The List of Values (LOV) and Values and Life Style (VALS). *Journal of Consumer Research*, 13(3), 405-409.
- Kalafatis, S. P., Pollard, M., East, R., & Tsogas, M. H. (1999). Green marketing and Ajzen's theory of planned behavior: a cross-market examination. Journal of Consumer Marketing, 16(5), 441–460.



- Kanuk, L., & Berenson, C. (1975). Mail surveys and response rates: A literature review. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 12(4), 440-453.
- Kemperman, A., Borgers, A., & Timmermans H. (2009). Tourist shopping behavior in a historic downtown area. *Tourism Management*, *30*(2), 208-218.
- Kent, W. E., Shock, P. J., & Snow, R. E. (1983). Shopping: tourism's unsung hero(ine). Journal of Travel Research, 21(4), 2-4.
- Keown, C. F. (1989). A model of tourists' propensity to buy: The case of Japanese visitors to Hawaii. *Journal of Travel Research*, 27(3), 31-34.
- Keown, C., Jacobs, L., & Worthley, R. (1984). American tourists' perception of retail stores in 12 selected countries. *Journal of Travel Research*, 22(3), 26-30.
- Kim, S. S., Guo, Y. Z., Agrusa, J. (2005). Preference and positioning analyses of overseas destinations by Mainland Chinese outbound pleasure tourists. *Journal of Travel Research*, 44(2), 212-220.
- Kipnis, A. R. (1997). Producing Guanxi. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Kirkman, B. L., Lowe, K. B., & Gibson, C. B. (2006). A quarter century of Culture's Consequences: a review of empirical research incorporating Hofstede's cultural values framework. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 37, 285-320.
- Ko, T. G. (2000). The Issues and Implications of Escorted Shopping Tours in a Tourist Destination Region: The Case Study of Korean Package Tourists in Australia. *Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing*, 8(3), 71-80.
- Komorita, S. S., & William K. G. (1965). Number of scale points and the reliability of scales. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 25(4), 987-95.
- Kulka, R. A., Holt, N. A., Carter, W., & Dowd, K. L. (1991). Self-Reports of time pressures, concern for privacy, and participation in the 1990 mail census. *Annual Research Conference: Proceedings*, Washington, DC: Bureau of the Census.
- Lam, T., & Hsu, C. H. C. (2004). Theory of planned behavior: Potential travelers from China. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Research*, 28(4), 463-482.
- Lam, T., & Hsu, C. H. C. (2006). Predicting behavioral intention of choosing a travel destination. *Tourism Management*, 27(4), 589-599.
- Laroche, M., Saad, G., Cleveland, M., & Browne, E. (2000). Gender differences in information search strategies for a Christmas gift. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 17(6), 500-522.
- Lau, S. (1988). The value orientations of Chinese university students in Hong Kong. *International Journal of Psychology*, 23(1-6), 583-596.



- Law, R., & Au, N. (2000). Relationship modeling in tourism shopping: a decision rules induction approach. *Tourism Management*, 21(3), 241-249.
- Lebra, T. S. (1976). *Japanese Patterns of Behavior*. Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press.
- Lee, S., Jeon, S., & Kim, D. (2011). The impact of tour quality and tourist satisfaction on tourist loyalty: The case of Chinese tourists in Korea. *Tourism Management*, 32(5), 1115-1124.
- Lehto, X. Y., Cai, L. A., O'Leary, J. T., & Huan, T. (2004). Tourist shopping preferences and expenditure behaviours: The case of the Taiwanese outbound market. Journal of Vacation Marketing, *10*(4), 320-332.
- LeHew, M., Wesley, S. C. (2007). Tourist shoppers' satisfaction with regional shopping mall experiences. *International Journal of Culture, Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 1(1), 82 96.
- Li, X. R., Cheng, C., Kim, H., & Li, X. (2012). Positioning USA in the Chinese Outbound Travel Market. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Research*, In Press.
- Li, X. R., Harrill, R., Uysal, M., Burnett, T., & Zhan, X. (2010). Estimating the size of the Chinese outbound travel market: A demand-side approach. *Tourism Management*, 31(2), 250-259.
- Li, X. R., Lai, C., Harrill, R., Kline, S., & Wang, L. (2011). When east meets west: An exploratory study on Chinese outbound tourists' travel expectations. *Tourism Management*, *32*(4), 741-749.
- Li, X. R., Meng, F., Uysal, M., & Mihalik, B. (2011). Understanding China's long-haul outbound travel market: An overlapped segmentation approach. *Journal of Business Research*, In Press.
- Li, X. R., & Stepchenkova, S. (2012). Chinese Outbound Tourists' Destination Image of America: Part I. *Journal of Travel Research*, *51*(3), 250-266.
- Lin, Y. H., & Lin, K. Q. R. (2006). Assessing mainland Chinese visitors' satisfaction with shopping in Taiwan. *Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research*, *11*(3), 247-268.
- Littrell, M. A. (1990). Symbolic significance of textile crafts for tourists. Annals of Tourism Research, *17*(2), 228-45.
- Littrell, M. A., Anderson, L. F., & Brown, P. J., (1993). What makes a craft souvenir authentic? Annals of Tourism Research, 20(1), 197–215.
- Littrell, M. A., Baizerman, S., Kean, R., Gahring, S., Niemeyer, S., Reilly, R., & Stout, J., (1994). Souvenirs and tourism styles. Journal of Travel Research, *33*(1), 3–11.



- Littrell, M. A., Paige, R. C., & Song, K. (2004). Senior travelers: Tourism activities and shopping behaviors. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, *10*(4), 348-362.
- Lowe, A. C. T., Corkindale, D. R. (1998). Differences in "cultural values" and their effects on responses to marketing stimuli: A cross-cultural study between Australians and Chinese from the People's Republic of China. *European Journal* of Marketing, 32(9/10), 843-867.
- Lowrey, T. M., Otnes, C. C., & Ruth, J. A. (2004). Social influences on dyadic giving over time: A taxonomy from the giver's perspective. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 30(4), 547-58.
- Luo, Y. (1997), Guanxi and performance of foreign invested enterprises in China: an empirical inquiry. Management International Review, 37(1), 51-70.
- Luo, Y. (1997), Guanxi: principles, philosophies, and implications. Human Systems Management, 16(1), 43-51.
- Luo, Y., & Park, S. H. (2001). Strategic alignment and performance of market-seeking MNCs in China. *Strategic Management Journal*, 22(2), 141-155.
- Lwin, M. O., & Williams, J. D. (2003). A model integrating the multidimensional developmental theory of privacy and theory of planned behavior to examine fabrication of information online. *Marketing Letters*, *14*(4), 257-272.
- Mak, B., Tsang, N., & Cheung, I. (1999). Taiwanese tourists' shopping preferences. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 5(2), 190–198.
- Meng, F., & Xu, Y. (2012). Tourism shopping behavior: planned, impulsive, or experiential. *International Journal of Culture, Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 6(3), 250-265.
- Mok, C., & DeFranco, A. L. (2000). Chinese cultural values: Their implications for travel and tourism marketing. *Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing*, 8(2), 99-114.
- Mok, C., & Iverson, T. J. (2000). Expenditure-based segmentation: Taiwanese tourists to Guam. *Tourism Management*, 21(3), 299-305.
- Mok, C., & Lam, T. (1997). A model of tourists' shopping propensity: A case of Taiwanese visitors to Hong Kong. *Pacific Tourism Review*, 1(2), 137-145.
- Morrison, D. G. (1972). Regression with discrete dependent variables: The effect on R2. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 9(3), 338-340.
- Moscardo, G. (2004). Shopping as a destination attraction: An empirical examination of the role of shopping in tourists' destination choice and experience. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, *10*(4), 294-307.



Moutinho, L. (1987). Consumer behavior in tourism. Journal of Marketing, 21(10), 1-44.

- National Tourism Administration of the People's Republic of China (CNTA). (2011). Tourism Statistics. 2010 Statistical Bulletin of China's tourism industry. Retrieved October 3, 2012 from <u>http://www.cnta.gov.cn/html/2011-11/2011-11-9-50-68041.html</u>
- National Bureau of Statistics of China (NBSC). (2003). China statistical yearbook. Retrieved October 3, 2012 from http://www.stats.gov.cn/ndsj/information/nj98n/R011AC.htm.
- Office of Travel and Tourism Industries. (2012). IT News: An information service from Office of Travel & Tourism Industries. U.S. Commerce department forecast growth in international travel to the United States through 2016. Retrieved October 9, 2012 from <u>http://tinet.ita.doc.gov/view/f-2000-99-001/forecast/Forecast-Summary.pdf</u>
- Office of Travel and Tourism Industries, Latest Statistics/Outreach, 2012 U.S. Travel and Tourism Statistics (Inbound), 2012 Monthly Arrivals to the United States – Table C. Section 5: United Kingdom, Japan, S. Korea, PRC (EXCL Hong Kong), ROC (Taiwan). Retrieved October 9, 2012 from <u>http://www.tinet.ita.doc.gov/view/m-2012-I-001/table5.html</u>
- Office of Travel and Tourism Industries, Top 10 international Markets: 2011 Visitation and Spending. Retrieved October 9, 2012 from <u>http://www.tinet.ita.doc.gov/pdf/2011-Top-10-Markets.pdf</u>
- Office of Travel and Tourism Industries, Latest Statistics/Outreach, 2012 U.S. Travel and Tourism Statistics (Inbound), Visitation to the United States: Business Travel vs. Pleasure Travel. Retrieved October 9, 2012 from <u>http://www.tinet.ita.doc.gov/view/m-2012-I-001/index.html</u>
- Office of Travel and Tourism Industries, Latest Statistics/Outreach, 2012 U.S. Travel and Tourism Statistics (Inbound), 2011 Monthly Arrivals to the United States – Table C. Section 5: United Kingdom, Japan, S. Korea, PRC (EXCL Hong Kong), ROC (Taiwan). Retrieved October 9, 2012 from <u>http://www.tinet.ita.doc.gov/view/m-2011-I-001/table5.html</u>
- Office of Travel and Tourism Industries, Latest Statistics/Outreach, 2012 U.S. Travel and Tourism Statistics (Inbound), 2010 Monthly Arrivals to the United States – Table C. Section 5: United Kingdom, Japan, S. Korea, PRC (EXCL Hong Kong), ROC (Taiwan). Retrieved October 9, 2012 from <u>http://www.tinet.ita.doc.gov/view/m-2010-I-001/table5.html</u>
- Office of Travel and Tourism Industries, Top 10 international Markets: 2010 Visitation and Spending. Retrieved October 9, 2012 from <u>http://www.tinet.ita.doc.gov/pdf/2010-Top-10-Markets.pdf</u>



- Office of Travel and Tourism Industries, Latest Statistics/Outreach, 2012 U.S. Travel and Tourism Statistics (Inbound). 2011 Market profile: China. Retrieved October 9, 2012 from <u>http://www.tinet.ita.doc.gov/outreachpages/download_data_table/2011_China_M</u> <u>arket_Profile.pdf</u>
- Oh, J., Cheng, C., Lehto, Y., & O'Leary, J. T. (2004). Predictors of tourists' shopping behavior: Examination of socio-demographic characteristics and trip typologies. Journal of Vacation Marketing, *10*(4), 308–319.
- Otnes, C., Lowrey, T. M., Kim, Y. C. (1993). Gift selection for easy and difficult recipients: A social roles interpretation. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 20(2), 229-244.
- Overby, J. W., & Lee, E. (2006). The effects of utilitarian and hedonic online shopping value on consumer preference and intentions. Journal of Business Research, *59*(10/11), 1160-1166.
- Pan, B., Li, X., Zhang, L., & Smith,W. (2007). An exploratory study on the satisfaction and barriers of online trip planning to china: American college students' experience. *Journal of Hospitality and Leisure Marketing*, 16(1/2), 203-226.
- Pan, G. W. (2003). A Theoretical Framework of Business Network Relationships Associated with the Chinese Outbound Tourism Market to Australia. *Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing*, 14(2), 87-104.
- Pavlow, P. A., & Fygenson, M. (2006). Understanding and predicting electronic commerce adoption: An extension of the theory of planned behavior. *MIS Quarterly*, 30(1), 115-143.
- Pawitra, T. A. & Tan, K. C. (2003). Tourist satisfaction in Singapore a perspective from Indonesian tourists. *Managing Service Quality*, 13(5), 399-411.
- Pearce II, J. A., & Robbins, D. K. (2008). Strategic transformation as the essential last step in the process of business turnaround. *Business Horizons*, 51(2), 121-130.
- Peter, J. P. (1979). Reliability: A review of psychometric basics and recent marketing practices. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *16*(1), 6-17.
- Pizam, A., & Jeong, G. (1996). Cross-cultural tourist behavior: Perceptions of Korean tour-guides. *Tourism Management*, 17(4), 277-286.
- Prideaux, B. (1996). Recent developments in the Taiwanese tourist industry implications for Australia. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 8(1), 10-15.
- Prus, R. (1993). Shopping with companions: Images, influences and interpersonal dilemmas. *Qualitative Sociology*, 16(2), 87-110.



- Qu, H. & Lam, S. (1997). A travel demand model for Mainland Chinese tourists to Hong Kong. *Tourism Management*, 18(8), 593-597.
- Qu, H. & Li, I. (1997). The Characteristics and Satisfaction of Mainland Chinese Visitors to Hong Kong. *Journal of Travel Research*, *35*(4), 37-41.
- Quintal, V. A., Lee, J. A., & Soutar, G. N. (2010). Risk, uncertainty and the theory of planned behaviour: A tourism example. *Tourism Management*, *31*(60), 797–805.
- Ramsay, J. 0. (1973). The effect of number of categories in rating scales on precision of estimation of scale values. *Psychometrika*, *38*(4), 513-32.
- Redding, S. G., & Ng, M. (1983). The role of "face" in the organizational perceptions of Chinese managers. *International Studies of Management and Organization*, 13(3), 92-123.
- Reisinger, Y., & Turner, L. W. (2001). Shopping satisfaction for domestic tourists. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*. 8(1), 15-27.
- Reisinger, Y., & Turner, L. W. (2002). Cultural differences between Asian tourist markets and Australian hosts, Part 1. *Journal of Travel Research*, 40(3), 295-315.
- Reisinger, Y., & Waryszak, R. (1994). Tourists' perceptions of service in shops: Japanese tourists in Australia. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 22(5), 20 – 28.
- Reisinger, Y., & Waryszak, R. (1996). Catering to Japanese tourists: What service do they expect from food and drinking establishments Australia? *Journal of Restaurant and Foodservice Marketing*, 1(3/4), 53–71.
- Rhodes, R. E., & Dean, R. N. (2009). Understanding physical inactivity: Prediction of four sedentary leisure behaviors. *Leisure Sciences*, *31*(2), 124-135.
- Rook, D. W. (1987). The buying impulse. Journal of Consumer Research, 14(2), 189-199.
- Rook, D. W., & Fisher, R. J. (1995). Normative influences on impulsive buying behavior. Journal of Consumer Research, 22(3), 305-313.
- Rook, D. W., & Gardner, M. P. (1993). In the mood: Impulse buying's affective antecedents. *Research in Consumer Behavior*, 6, 1-28.
- Rook, D. W., & Hoch, S. J. (1985). Consuming impulses. Advances in consumer research, 12, 23-27.
- Rosenbaum, M. S., & Spears, D. L. (2006). An exploration of spending behaviors among Japanese tourists. *Journal of Travel Research*, 44(4), 467-473.



- Ryans, A. (1977). Consumer gift buying behavior: An exploratory analysis. In: *Contemporary Marketing Thought* (eds.) Danny Bellinger & Bernard Greenberg, Chicago: American Marketing Association, 99-104.
- Ryan, C. (1991). Recreational Tourism: A Social Science Perspective. New York: Routledge.
- Ryan, M. J. (1982). Behavioral intention formation: the interdependency of attitudinal and social influence variables. Journal of Consumer Research, 9(3), 263-278.
- Schwartz, S. H. (2007). A theory of cultural values and some implications for work. *Applied Psychology*, 48(1), 23-47.
- Sheppard, B. H., Hartwick, J., & Warshaw, P. R. (1988). The theory of reasoned action: A meta-analysis of past research with recommendations for modifications and future research. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 15(3), 325–343.
- Sherry, J. F., Jr. (1983). Gift giving in anthropological perspective. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 10(2), 157-168.
- Sherry, J. F., Jr. (1990). A sociocultural analysis of a Midwestern flea market. Journal of Consumer Research, *17*(1), 13-30.
- Sherry, J. F., Jr. (1990). Dealers and dealing in a periodic market: informal retailing in ethnographic perspective. *Journal of Retailing*, *66*(Summer), 174-200.
- Sherry, J. F., Jr., McGrath, M. A., & Levy, S. J. (1993). The dark side of the gift. *Journal* of Business Research, 28(3), 225-244.
- Shimp, T. A., & Kavas, A. (1984). The theory of reasoned action applied to coupon usage. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 11(3), 795–809.
- Snepenger, J. D., Murphy, L., O'Connell, R., & Gregg, E. (2003). Tourists and residents use of a shopping space. Annals of Tourism Research, 30(3), 567–580.
- Sönmez, S. F., & Graefe, A. R. (1998). Determining future travel behavior from past travel experience and perceptions of risk and safety. *Journal of Travel Research*, 37(2), 171-177.
- Sparks, B. (2007). Planning a wine tourism vacation? Factors that help to predict tourist behavioral intentions. *Tourism Management*, 28(5), 1180-1192.
- Sparks, B., & Pan, G. W. (2009). Chinese outbound tourists: Understanding their attitudes, constraints and use of information sources. *Tourism Management*, *30*(4), 483-494.



- Sparks, P. (1994). Attitudes towards food: Applying, assessing and extending the 'theory of planned behavior'. In: Rutter, D. R., & Quine, L. (Eds.), Social Psychology and Health: European perspectives, 25–46. Aldershot: Avebury Press.
- Sperber, B.M., Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1980). Predicting and understanding women's occupational orientations: Factors underlying choice intentions. In: *Understanding Attitudes and Predicting Social Behavior*, eds. Icek Ajzen and Martin Fishbein, Englewood Cliffs NJ: Prentice-Hall, 113-129.
- Steidlmeier, P. (1999). Gift giving, bribery and corruption: Ethical management of business relationships in China. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 20(2), 121-132.
- Stepchenkova, S., & Li, X. (2012), Chinese Outbound Tourists' Destination Image of America: Part II. *Journal of Travel Research*, *51*(6), 687-703.
- Swan, J. (1981). Disconfirmation of expectations and satisfaction with a retail service. *Journal of Retailing*, 57(3), 49-66.
- Swanson, K. K. (2004). Tourists' and retailers' perceptions of souvenirs. Journal of Vacation Marketing, *10*(4), 363–367.
- Symonds, R. M. (1924). On the loss of reliability in ratings due to coarseness of the scale. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 7(6), 456-461.
- Tarkiainen, A., & Sundqvist, S. (2005). Subjective norms, attitudes and intentions of Finnish consumers in buying organic food. *British Food Journal*, *107*(11), 808-22.
- Tauber, E. M. (1972). Why do people shop? Journal of Marketing, 36(4), 46-49.
- Timothy, D. J., & Butler, R. W. (1995). Cross-border shopping: A North American perspective. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 22(1), 16-34.
- Tourism Australia Research, Visitor Arrivals Data 2011, Highlights. Retrieved October 4, 2012 from <u>http://www.tourism.australia.com/en-au/research/5236_6392.aspx</u>
- Turley, L. W., Milliman, R. E. (2000). Atmospheric effects on shopping behavior: a review of the experimental evidence. Journal of Business Research, 49(2), 193-211.
- U.S. Travel Association (2009). Mainland China: Market summary. Retrieved December 13th from <u>http://www.ustravel.org/sites/default/files/page/2009/09/China_Summary.pdf</u>
- Van den Putte, B. (1991). 20 years of the theory of reasoned action of Fishbein and Ajzen: A meta-analysis. Unpublished manuscript, University of Amsterdam.
- VisitBritain, Insights & Statistics, Market Intelligence Report Search. (2012). Market and Trade Profile: China. Retrieved October 4, 2012 from



http://www.visitbritain.org//Images/China%20-%20Sept%202012_tcm29-14678.pdf

- Voss, K. E., Spangenberg, E. R., & Grohmann, B. (2003). Measuring the hedonic and utilitarian dimensions of consumer attitude. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 40(3), 310-320.
- Wang, D. (2004). Hong Kongers' cross-border consumption and shopping in Shenzhen: patterns and motivations. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, *11*(3), 149–159.
- Wang, J., Piron, F., & Xuan, M. V. (2001). Faring one thousand miles to give goose feathers: gift giving in the people's Republic of China. Advances in Consumer Research, 28(?), 58-63.
- Wang, K. C., Hsieh, A. T., & Chen, W. Y. (2002). Is the tour leader an effective endorser for group package tour brochures? *Tourism Management*, 23(5), 489-498.
- Wang, K. D., Hsieh, A. T., & Huan, T. C. (2000). Critical service features in group package tour: An exploratory research. *Tourism Management*, 21(2), 177-189.
- Wang, Q., Razzaque, M. A., & Keng, K. A. (2007). Chinese cultural values and giftgiving behavior. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 24(4), 214 -228.
- Wang, S. (2012). Chinese tourists' satisfaction with international shopping centers: A case study of the Taipei 101 building shopping mall. *Quality Management and Practices*, Dr. Kim-Soon Ng (Ed.), ISBN: 978-953-51-0550-3, InTech, Available from <u>http://www.intechopen.com/books/quality-management-andpractices/chinese-tourists-satisfaction-with-international-shopping-centers-a-case-study-of-the-taipei-101-bu</u>
- Weaver, P. A., Weber, K., & McCleary, K. W. (2007). Destination evaluation: the role of previous travel experience and trip characteristics. Journal of Travel Research, 45(3), 333-344.
- Whipple, T. W., & Thach, S. V. (1988). Group tour management: Does good service produce satisfied customers? *Journal of Travel Research*, 27(2), 16-21.
- Witter, B. S. (1985). Attitudes about a resort area: A comparison of tourists and local retailers. Journal of Travel Research, 24(1), 14-19.
- Wolfinbarger, M. F., & Yale, L. Y. (1993). Three motivations for interpersonal giftgiving: Experiential, obligated and practical motivations. Advances in consumer research, 20(1), 520–526.
- Wong, C. S., & Kwong, W. Y. (2004). Outbound tourists' selection criteria for choosing all-inclusive package tours. *Tourism Management*, 25(5), 581-592.



- Wong, J., & Law, R. (2003). Difference in shopping satisfaction levels: a study of tourists in Hong Kong. *Tourism Management*, 24(4), 401-410.
- Wong, N. Y., & Ahuvia, A. C. (1998). Personal taste and family face: Luxury consumption in Confucian and Western societies. *Psychology & Marketing*, 15(5), 423-441.
- Wong, S., & Lau, E. (2001). Understanding the behavior of Hong Kong Chinese tourists on group tour packages. *Journal of Travel Research*, 40(1), 57-67.
- Wong, Y. H., & Chan, R. Y. (1999). Relationship marketing in China: guanxi, favouritism and adaptation. Journal of Business Ethics, 22(2), 107-118.
- Wooten, D. B. (2000). Qualitative steps toward an expanded model of anxiety in giftgiving. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 27(1), 84-95.
- World Tourism Organization (WTO). (2003). Chinese Outbound Tourism. Madrid, Spain:World Tourism Organization.
- Xin, K. K., & Pearce, J. L. (1996). Guanxi: Connections as substitutes for formal institutional support. *Academy of Management Journal*, *39*(6), 1641-1658.
- Xu, Y., & McGehee, N. G. (2012). Shopping behavior of Chinese tourists visiting the United States: Letting the shoppers do the talking. *Tourism Management*, 33(2), 427-430.
- Yan, Y. (1996). *The flow of gifts: Reciprocity and social networks in a Chinese village*. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Yang, M. M. H. (1994). *Gifts, favors and banquets: The art of social relationships in China*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Yarnal, C. M., & Kerstetter, D. (2005). Casting off an exploration of cruise ship space, group tour behavior, and social interaction. *Journal of Travel Research*, 43(4), 368-379.
- Yau, O. H. M. (1988). Chinese cultural values: their dimensions and marketing implications. *European Journal of Marketing*, 22(5), 44-57.
- Yau, O. H. M. (1994). Consumer behavior in China: Customer satisfaction and cultural values. New York: Routledge.
- Yau, O. H. M., Chan, T. S., & Lau, K. F. (1999). Influence of Chinese cultural values on consumer behavior. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, *11*(1), 97-116.
- Yeung, I. Y. M., & Tung, R. L. (1996). Achieving business success in Confucian societies: The importance of Guanxi (Connections). Organizational Dynamics, 25(2), 54-65.



- Yüksel, A., & Yüksel, F. (2007). Shopping risk perceptions: Effects on tourists' emotions, satisfaction and expressed loyalty intentions. *Tourism Management*, 28(3), 703-713.
- Zeithaml, V. A. (1988). Consumer perception of price, quality and value: A means-end model and synthesis of evidence. *Journal of Marketing*, *52*(3), 2-22.
- Zhang H. Q., Leung, V., & Qu, H. (2007). A refined model of factors affecting convention participation decision-making. *Tourism Management*, 28(4), 1123-1127.
- Zhou, L., King, B. & Turner, L. (1998). The China outbound market: An evaluation of key constraints and opportunities, *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 4(2), 120-135.
- Zhang, H. Q., & Heung, V. (2002). The emergence of the mainland Chinese outbound travel market and its implications for tourism marketing. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 8(1), 7-12.
- Zhang, H. Q. & Heung, V., & Yan, Y. Q. (2009). Play or not to play—An analysis of the mechanism of the zero-commission Chinese outbound tours through a game theory approach. *Tourism Management*, 30(3), 366-371.
- Zhang, H. Q., & Chow, I. (2004). Application of importance-performance model in tour guides' performance: evidence from mainland Chinese outbound visitors in Hong Kong. *Tourism Management*, 25(1), 81-91.
- Zhang, H. Q., & Lam, T. (1999). An analysis of Mainland Chinese visitors' motivations to visit Hong Kong. *Tourism Management*, 20(5), 587-594.
- Zhang, H. Q., & Qu, H. (1996). The trends of China's outbound travel to Hong Kong and their implications. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 2(4), 373-381.

